Biodegradable Polymers:

Recent Developments and New Perspectives

Edited by Geraldine Rohman



Published by: IAPC Publishing, Zagreb, Croatia, 2017

Editor: **Geraldine Rohman** Biodegradable Polymers: Recent Developments and New Perspectives

Proofreading and graphic layout: Ana Blažeković,

© 2017 by the authors; licensee IAPC, Zagreb, Croatia. This book is an open-access book distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license.

The efforts have been made to publish reliable and accurate data as much as possible, but the authors and the editor cannot assume responsibility for the validity of materials or the consequences of their use.

ISBN 978-953-56942-5-0

IAPC Publishing is a part of International Association of Physical Chemists

CONTENTS

EDITORIAL FOREWORD	xvi
LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS	xvii
ABOUT THE EDITOR	xx

ENZYMES CATALYSING THE SYNTHESIS AND DEGRADATION OF BETA-LINKED	1
Tomohiro Hiraishi [*] and Seiichi Taguchi	I
1.1. INTRODUCTION	3
1.1.1. Biopolymers	3
1.1.2. PHB	
1.1.2.1. Storage PHB	4
1.1.2.2. Oligo-PHB	5
1.1.2.3. cPHB	5
1.1.3. PLAs	5
1.1.4. PAA	6
1.1.5. Towards an enhanced sustainable production	6
1.2. PROTEIN ENGINEERING OF PHA SYNTHASES	7
1.2.1. Enzymology and engineering of PHA synthases	7
1.2.2. Functional improvements of PHA synthases	8
1.2.2.1. Type I PHA synthases	8
1.2.2.2. Type II PHA synthases	10
1.2.3. Creation of lactate-polymerizing enzyme (LPE)	11
1.3. PROTEIN ENGINEERING OF PHB DEPOLYMERASE	14
1.3.1. Biochemical and genetic properties of PHB depolymerases	14
1.3.2. Protein engineering of the SBD region of $PhaZ_{RpiT1}$	15
1.3.3. Protein engineering of the CD region of $PhaZ_{RpiT1}$	17
1.3.4. Proposed active site model of PhaZ _{RpiT1}	19
1.3.5. Applications of PHB depolymerases	19
1.4. PAA HYDROLASES	21
1.4.1. Biochemical and genetic properties of PAA hydrolases	21
1.4.2. Enzymes functionally and structurally related to PahZ1 $_{\text{KT-1}}$ and PahZ1 $_{\text{KP-2}}$	23
1.4.3. Application of PAA hydrolase from <i>Pedobacter</i> sp. KP-2	26
1.5. CONCLUSION	26
REFERENCES	27

EXPLORING BIODEGRADABLE POLYMER PRODUCTION FROM MARINE	22
MICROBES	33
Autanunaisanny Monan Kasu anu Alagaisanny Alun	25
	35
2.2. BIOPOLYMER	36
2.3. MARINE ENVIRONMENT POLLUTION DUE TO PLASTICS	37
2.4. BIOPOLYMER FROM MICROORGANISMS	38
2.5. MARINE BACTERIA POTENTIAL	40
2.5.1. Marine bacteria producing PHAs	41
2.5.2. Polyhydroxyalkanoates by halophiles	44
2.5.3. PHA production in halophilic archaea	44
2.6. SELECTION OF FEEDSTOCKS	45
2.7. PROPERTIES OF PHAs	46
2.7.1. Crystal structure of P(3HB)	47
2.7.2. Physical properties of P(3HB)	48
2.8. NEED FOR PHAs FOR MICROORGANISMS	49
2.9. BIODEGRADABILITY	49
2.10. INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION OF PHA	50
2.11. APPLICATION	52
2.11.1. Medical applications	53
2.11.2. Drug delivery carriers	54
2.11.3. Biofuels	55
2.12. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	55
REFERENCES	56

NEW PROMISING BIODEGRADABLE POLYESTERS DERIVED FROM POLY((R,S)-	
3,3-DIMETHYLMALIC ACID) FOR CARDIOVASCULAR APPLICATIONS	65
Rima Belibel and Christel Barbaud*	
3.1. INTRODUCTION	67
3.2. HISTORY	69
3.3. INTERESTS AND APPLICATION OF PDMMLAs	72
3.4. HYDROPHOBIC PDMMLAs	76
3.4.1. Synthesis of hydrophobic PDMMLAs	76
3.4.2. Physicochemical characterization of hydrophobic PDMMLAs	78
3.4.2.1. Stereoregularity	79
3.4.2.2. Molecular weights	81
3.4.2.3. Thermal properties: semi-crystallinity (T_m), crystallization temperature (T_c), glass-transition temperature (T_g), and	
decomposition temperature (T_d)	82
3.5. HYDROPHILIC/HYDROPHOBIC PDMMLAs	86
3.5.1. Synthesis and chemical characterization of hydrophilic/hydrophobic PDMMLAs	86
3.5.2. Physicochemical properties and surface characterization of PDMMLAs	88
3.5.2.1. Thermal properties	88
3.5.2.2. Surfaces roughness and topography	89
3.5.2.3. Surfaces wettability and water sorption/desorption	90
3.5.2.4. Surfaces free energy and its components	93
3.5.3. <i>In vitro</i> biodegradation rate and nature of PDMMLAs and the cytotoxicity of degradation products	94
3.5.3.1. Degradation of homopolymers: effect of load and nature of functional side chain and biological enzymes	95
3.5.3.2. Degradation of copolymers: effect of molecular weight, enzymes, pH, and temperature	96
3.5.3.3. Cytotoxicity of PDMMLAs degradation products	100
3.6. CONCLUSION	101
REFERENCES	102

BIODEGRADABLE POLYMERS FROM MONOMERS BASED ON VEGETABLE OILS Jingjiang Sun and Dirk Kuckling [*]	107
4.1. INTRODUCTION	109
 4.2. MONOMERS FROM VEGETABLE OILS	112 112 113 117 120
4.3. VEGETABLE OIL BASED POLYESTERS	122
4.4. VEGETABLE OIL BASED POLYANHYDRIDES	127
4.5. VEGETABLE OIL BASED POLYESTERAMIDES	129
4.6. BIODEGRADATION	130
 4.7. APPLICATION 4.7.1. Controlled drug delivery system 4.7.2. Tissue engineering 4.7.3. Coating 	133 133 135 136
4.8. CONCLUSIONS	136
REFERENCES	137

SYNTHESIS AND STRUCTURE–PROPERTY RELATIONSHIPS OF BIODEGRADABLE POLYURETHANES	141
Marija V. Pergal* and Milica Balaban	
5.1. INTRODUCTION	143
5.2. SYNTHESIS OF BioPUs	145
5.3. STRUCTURE-PROPERTY RELATIONSHIPS IN BioPUs	147
5.3.1. Soft segments	147
5.3.1.1. Polyester soft segments	147
5.3.1.1.1. Polylactide- and glycolide-based BioPUs	147
5.3.1.1.2. Poly(ε -caprolactone)-based BioPUs	151
5.3.1.1.3. Poly(dimethylsiloxane)-based BioPUs	156
5.3.1.2. Polyether soft segments	159
5.3.2. Hard segments	160
5.4. APPLICATIONS OF BioPUs	164
5.4.1. Biodegradation and biocompatibility	164
5.4.2. Porous BioPUs-tissue scaffolds	166
5.4.2.1. Fabrication of porous BioPUs	167
5.4.2.2. Properties and degradation behaviour of porous BioPUs	173
5.4.3. BioPU-based drug delivery systems	175
5.4.4. BioPU-based nanocomposites	178
5.5. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE TRENDS	181
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	181
REFERENCES	182

PLASMA SURFACE FUNCTIONALIZATION OF BIODEGRADABLE ELECTROSPUN SCAFFOLDS FOR TISSUE ENGINEERING APPLICATIONS	191
Rouba Ghobeira, Nathalie de Geyter, and Rino Morent [*]	
6.1. INTRODUCTION	193
6.2. EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX	195
6.3. NATURAL ECM-DERIVED COMPONENTS USED IN TE APPLICATIONS	197
6.3.1. Collagen	197
6.3.2. Gelatin	198
6.3.3. Laminin	198
6.4. SYNTHETIC BIODEGRADABLE POLYMERS USED IN TE APPLICATIONS	199
6.4.1. Poly(glycolic acid) (PGA)	200
6.4.2. Poly(lactic acid) (PLA)	201
6.4.3. Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)	202
6.4.4. Polycaprolactone (PCL)	203
6.5. ELECTROSPINNING	204
6.5.1. Concept and mechanism of electrospinning	205
6.5.2. Electrospinning parameters	206
6.5.2.1. Substrate-related parameters	206
6.5.2.2. Process-related parameters	208
6.6. DIFFERENT FUNCTIONALIZATION APPROACHES OF ELECTROSPUN	
BIODEGRADABLE POLYMERS	209
6.7. PLASMA-ASSISTED SURFACE FUNCTIONALIZATION OF NANOFIBERS	213
6.7.1. Plasma activation	213
6.7.2. Plasma-activated nanofibers in TE applications	216
6.7.2.1. PCL fibers	216
6.7.2.2. PLLA fibers	221
6.7.2.3. PLGA fibers	223
6.7.3. Plasma polymerization and grafting applied on non-of-	
applications	224
6741 PCL fibers	224
6.7.4.2. PLLA fibers	
6.7.4.3. PLGA fibers	231
6.8. CONCLUSION	231
REFERENCES	232

BIODEGRADABLE POLYMERS FOR DENTAL TISSUE ENGINEERING AND REGENERATION	237
Raffaele Conte, Adriana De Luise, Orsolina Petillo, Carlo Rengo, Francesco Riccitiello, Anna Di Salle, Anna Calarco,* and Gianfranco Peluso	
7.1. INTRODUCTION	239
7.2. OROFACIAL STRUCTURES	240
7.3. PATHOLOGICAL ALTERATIONS OF THE OROFACIAL REGION	242
7.4. RESTORATIVE APPROACHES TO PATHOLOGICAL ALTERATIONS	244
7.5. DENTAL REGENERATIVE THERAPY	248
7.6. HYDROLYTICALLY DEGRADABLE POLYMERS	249
7.6.1 Polyesters	250
7.6.2. Polyanhydrides	257
7.6.3. Polyacetals	258
7.6.4. Poly(ortho esters)	259
7.6.5. Polycarbonates	260
7.6.6. Polyurethanes	
7.6.7. Polyphosphazenes	
7.7. ENZYMATICALLY DEGRADABLE POLYMERS	264
7.7.1. Synthetic polyethers	
7.7.2. Proteins and poly(amino acids)	
7.7.3. Polysaccharides	274
7.8. CONCLUDING REMARKS	278
ACKNOWLEDGMENT	279
REFERENCES	

INNOVATIVE NEXT-GENERATION PLGA MICROPARTICLES WITH MULTIFUNCTIONAL ARCHITECTURE Eric Sah and Hongkee Sah*	297
8.1. INTRODUCTION	299
8.2. GOLF BALL-LIKE PLGA MICROSPHERES WITH DIMPLED SURFACE	299
8.3. PATCHY LIPID-PLGA MICROPARTICLES	
8.4. BILAYERED CORE-SHELL PLGA MICROSPHERES	305
8.5. KUSUDAMA-LIKE PLGA MICROPARTICLES	307
8.6. PLGA MICROPARTICLES WITH ANY GEOMETRICAL MICROFEATURE	
8.7. CONCLUSIONS	313
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	313
REFERENCES	313

PREPARATION OF PARENTERAL <i>IN SITU</i> GEL FORMULATIONS BASED ON SMART PLGA POLYMERS: CONCEPTS TO DECREASE INITIAL DRUG BURST AND EXTEND THE DRUG RELEASE	315
Tarek A Ahmed [*] and Zahid Hussain	
9.1. INTRODUCTION	317
9.2. SMART POLYMERS	318
9.2.1. Temperature-sensitive (thermosensitive) polymers	318
9.2.2. Phase-sensitive polymers	319
9.2.3. pH-sensitive polymers	319
9.2.4. Photosensitive polymers	320
9.2.5. Other stimuli-sensitive polymers	320
9.3. POLY (LACTIC-CO-GLYCOLIC ACID) (PLGA)	321
9.4. MECHANISM AND PROFILE OF DRUG RELEASE FROM PLGA POLYMERIC MATRICES	323
9.5. TECHNIQUES UTILIZED TO PREPARE PLGA-BASED ISG SYSTEMS WITH	
MINIMUM INITIAL BURST AND EXTENDED DRUG RELEASE	324
9.5.1. Ratio of lactide to glycolide in PLGA	324
9.5.2. Use of hydrophobic solvents	324
9.5.3. PLGA concentration and molecular weight (intrinsic viscosity)	326
9.5.4. Addition of plasticizers or surfactants	327
9.5.5. Formation of <i>in situ</i> microparticles (ISM) and microglobules	329
9.5.6. ISG systems based on drug nanocrystals and nanoparticles	331
9.6. APPLICATIONS OF PARENTERAL ISG SYSTEMS	332
9.6.1. Application in veterinary products	332
9.6.2. Application in vaccine and gene delivery	332
9.6.3. Applications in protein and peptide delivery	332
9.7. CURRENT AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT	333
9.8. CONCLUSION	333
REFERENCES	334

PERSPECTIVE POTENTIAL OF POLYMER-BASED BIOSENSOR CHIPS IN FOOD INDUSTRY AND CLINICAL DIAGNOSTICS Nadira Ibrišimović-Mehmedinović*, Mirza Ibrišimović, Aldina Kesić, and Snježana Marić	337
10.1. INTRODUCTION	
10.2. POLYMER MATERIALS IN BIOSENSOR TECHNOLOGY	
10.3. OPTICAL BIOSENSORS AND SPR PRINCIPLE	343
10.4. DEGRADATION OF POLYMER DISTANCE LAYER	345
10.5. SELECTION OF THE CLUSTER 10.5.1. Metal clusters 10.5.2. Mirror cluster	347 347 348
10.6. THE QUENCHER/LIGAND SYSTEM	348
10.7. MODIFICATIONS OF BIOSENSOR MATRIX AND SYSTEM	349
10.8. APPLICATION OF BIOSENSORS IN FOOD INDUSTRY	350
10.9. CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF POLYMER-BASED BIOSENSORS	353
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	354
REFERENCES	354

PLA-OMMT NANOCOMPOSITES MANUFACTURED BY REACTIVE EXTRUSION	357
Félix Carrasco,* Orlando Onofre Santana, Jonathan Cailloux, and Maria Lluïsa Maspoch	
11.1. INTRODUCTION	359
11.2. REACTIVE EXTRUSION PROCESSING AT LABORATORY SCALE	364
11.2.1. Reaction monitoring 11.2.2. Characterization of reactivity between clay and chain extender	364 368
11.3. REACTIVE EXTRUSION PROCESSING AT PILOT PLANT SCALE	371
11.3.2. Effect of clay and/or chain extender addition on the rheological behavior	373
11.3.3. Effect of chain extender incorporation on clay dispersion in the PLA matrix	377
11.3.4. Mechanical characterization	378
11.3.5. Thermal stability	381
11.3.6. Kinetics of the thermal decomposition: elucidation of reaction mechanism	383
11.4. CONCLUSIONS	392
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	392
REFERENCES	393

STRONG BIODEGRADABILITY OF VINYL POLYMERS EXERTED BY INSERTION OF <i>N</i> -BENZYL-4-VINYL-PYRIDINIUM HALIDE INTO THE MAIN CHAIN Nariyoshi Kawabata	397
12.1. INTRODUCTION	401
12.2. POWERFUL CAPTURE OF BACTERIAL CELLS IN THE LIVING STATE ON THE SURFACE OF CROSS-LINKED PBVP(Br)	402
12.2.1. Accidental discovery of powerful capture of bacterial cells by cross- linked PBVP(Br)	402
12.2.2. Inducement to attempt removal of bacteria from water with use of cross-linked PBVP(Br)	404
12.2.3. Influence of chemical structure of cross-linked PBVP(Br) on the ability to capture bacterial cells	404
12.2.4. Affinity of bacterial cells with cross-linked PBVP(Br)	405
12.2.5. Bioreactor using bacterial cells immobilized by capture on the surface of cross-linked PBVP(Br)	405
12.2.6. Removal of bacteria and virus by filtration through composite microporous membrane made of cross-linked PBVP(Cl)	405
12.3. STRONG ACTION OF LINEAR POLY(<i>N</i> -BENZYL-4-VINYLPYRIDINIUM HALIDE) UPON MICROBIAL CELLS	407
12.3.1. Strong antibacterial activity of linear PBVP(Br)	407
12.3.2. Removal of bacteria from water by coagulation and sedimentation using linear PBVP(Br) and PBVP(Cl) and their copolymers	407
12.3.3. Removal of micro-organisms by filtration through unwoven cloth coated with copolymer of styrene with BVP(Cl)	408
12.3.4. Electrochemical sensor for viable microbial cell concentration using copolymer of styrene with BVP(Cl)	408
12.3.5. Bioreactor using bacterial cells immobilized on the surface of unwoven cloth coated with copolymer of styrene with BVP(Cl)	409
12.3.6. Control of soil-borne plant diseases by capture of disease germs using sawdust coated with copolymer of styrene with BVP(Cl)	409
12.3.7. Suppression of soil-borne plant disease by coagulation of disease germs using copolymer of methyl methacrylate with BVP(Cl)	410
12.4. VIOLENT DIGESTION OF CROSS-LINKED PBVP(Br) BY ACTIVATED	111
12.4.1 Miserahly complete failure of using cross-linked PRVP(Br) as a filter	
medium for bio-film process of sewage treatment	411
recycling system of materials in the natural environment	413
12.5. BIODEGRABILITY OF POLY(METHYL METHACRYLATE) (PMMA) THAT CONTAINS BVP(CI) IN THE MAIN CHAIN	414

12.6. BIODEGRADABILITY OF POLY(VINYL ACETATE) THAT CONTAINS BVP(Cl) IN THE MAIN CHAIN	417
12.7. BIODEGRABILITY OF POLY(ACRYLAMIDE) THAT CONTAINS BVP(Cl) IN THE MAIN CHAIN	419
12.8. BIODEGRABILITY OF POLYSTYRENE THAT CONTAINS BVP(CI) IN THE MAIN CHAIN	420
12.9. BIODEGRABILITY OF POLY(ACRYLONITRILE) THAT CONTAINS BVP(CI) IN THE MAIN CHAIN	425
12.10. RECYCLING USE OF SYNTHETIC POLYMERS WITHOUT LEAVING WASTES INTO NATURAL ENVIRONMENT	429
12.10.1. Zero-emission use of synthetic polymers to prevent pollution of natural environment by wasted synthetic polymers	430
12.10.2. Grade of recycling use of synthetic polymers	430
12.10.3. Closely connected cooperation of artery industry with venous industry required by efficient recycling of resource materials	431
REFERENCES	432

EDITORIAL FOREWORD

Due to their various qualities, such as lightness, chemical and microbial stability, non-degradable polymeric materials are routinely used in a wide range of applications in everyday life. However, due to the growing concern for environmental and waste management issues, bio-based and biodegradable polymers have recently raised great interest. Produced from renewable or petroleum resources, these polymers are hydrolytically or enzymatically degraded. As a consequence, they have numerous advantages, so that they find applications in packaging and biomedical field, such as drug delivery, tissue engineering and as temporary implants. Nevertheless, their main drawbacks are a higher cost in comparison with commodity polymers, and inferior properties. Therefore, researches on biobased and biodegradable polymers must be continued in order to improve their performances and penetrate new markets.

The aim of this book is to address advances in the field and proposes alternative ways for polymer degradation. Some chapters are dedicated to the synthesis of innovative biodegradable and bio-based polymers, while others focus on their properties improvement. Some examples of biopolymer expectations in biomedical or food applications are also discussed. Finally, biodegradability potential of vinyl polymers is approached.

LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS

Ahmed, Tarek A., Department of Pharmaceutics, Faculty of Pharmacy, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, KSA. Department of Pharmaceutics & Industrial Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Al-Azhar University, Cairo, Egypt

Arun, Alagarsamy, Department of Microbiology, Alagappa University, Karaikudi

Balaban Milica, Faculty of Science, University of Banja Luka, Mladena Stojanovića 2, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Barbaud, Christel, INSERM U1148, Laboratory for Vascular Translational Science (LVTS), Institut Galilée, Université Paris , Sorbonne Paris Cité, 99 Avenue Jean-Baptiste Clément, Villetaneuse, F-93430, France

Belibel, Rima, INSERM U1148, Laboratory for Vascular Translational Science (LVTS), Institut Galilée, Université Paris, Sorbonne Paris Cité, 99 Avenue Jean-Baptiste Clément, Villetaneuse, F-93430, France

Cailloux, Jonathan, Centre Català del Plàstic (CCP), Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, C/Colom, 114, 08222 Terrassa, Spain

Calarco, Anna, Institute of of Agro-environmental and Forest Biology (IBAF)

Carrasco, Félix, Department of Chemical Engineering, Universitat de Girona, C/Maria Aurèlia Capmany, 61, 17003 Girona, Spain

Conte, Raffaele, Institute of of Agro-environmental and Forest Biology (IBAF)

De Luise, Adriana, Institute of of Agro-environmental and Forest Biology (IBAF)

Di Salle, Anna, Institute of of Agro-environmental and Forest Biology (IBAF)

Geyter, Nathalie de, Research Unit Plasma Technology (RUPT), Department of Applied Physics, Faculty of Architecture and Engineering, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium **Ghobeira, Rouba**, Research Unit Plasma Technology (RUPT), Department of Applied Physics, Faculty of Architecture and Engineering, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Hiraishi, Tomohiro, Bioengineering Laboratory, RIKEN, 2-1 Hirosawa, Wako-shi, Saitama 351-0198, Japan

Hussain, Zahid, Department of Pharmaceutics, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Puncak Alam Campus, Bandar Puncak Alam 42300, Selangor, Malaysia

Ibrišimović, Mirza, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Natural Science and Mathematics University of Tuzla, Univerzitetska 4, 75000 Tuzla, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Ibrišimović-Mehmedinović, Nadira, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Natural Science and Mathematics University of Tuzla, Univerzitetska 4, 75000 Tuzla, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Kawabata, Nariyoshi, Kyoto Institute of Technology, Kyoto 606-8585, Japan. University of Shiga Prefecture, Shiga 522-8533, Japan

Kesić, Aldina, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Natural Science and Mathematics University of Tuzla, Univerzitetska 4, 75000 Tuzla, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Kuckling, Dirk, University of Paderborn, Chemistry Department, Warburger Str. 100, D-8 33098 Paderborn, Germany

Marić, Snježana, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Natural Science and Mathematics University of Tuzla, Univerzitetska 4, 75000 Tuzla, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Maspoch, Maria Lluïsa, Centre Català del Plàstic (CCP), Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, C/Colom, 114, 08222 Terrassa, Spain

Mohan Rasu, Kulanthaisamy, Department of Energy Science, Alagappa University, Karaikudi

Morent, Rino, Research Unit Plasma Technology (RUPT), Department of Applied Physics, Faculty of Architecture and Engineering, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Onofre Santana, Orlando, Centre Català del Plàstic (CCP), Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, C/Colom, 114, 08222 Terrassa, Spain

Peluso, Gianfranco, Institute of Biosciences and BioResources, CNR, Naples, Italy

Pergal, Marija V., Institute of Chemistry, Technology and Metallurgy (ICTM), Department of Chemistry, University of Belgrade, Njegoševa 12, Belgrade, Serbia

Petillo, Orsolina, Institute of Bioscinece and BioResources, CNR, Naples, Italy

Rengo, Carlo, Department of Neurosciences, Reproductive and Odontostomatological Sciences, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

Riccitiello, Francesco, Department of Neurosciences, Reproductive and Odontostomatological Sciences, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

Sah, Eric, College of Science, University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame, IN 46556, USA

Sah, Hongkee, College of Pharmacy, Ewha Womans University, 52 Ewhayeodae-gil, Seodaemun-gu, Seoul 03760, Republic of Korea

Sun, Jingjiang, University of Paderborn, Chemistry Department, Warburger Str. 100, D-8 33098 Paderborn, Germany

Taguchi, Seiichi, Department of Chemistry for Life Sciences and Agriculture, Faculty of Life Sciences, Tokyo University of Agriculture, 1-1-1 Sakuragaoka, Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 155-8502, Japan

ABOUT THE EDITOR

Géraldine Rohman received her Ph.D. in Chemistry and Materials Science in 2005 from University Paris 12 under the supervision of Pr. P. Guerin and Dr. D. Grande. Her work concerned "Mesoporous polymeric materials: a new elaboration process from semi-interpenetrating and interpenetrating polymer networks partially hydrolysable". Then she did her post-doctoral training with Pr. N. Cameron at Durham University where she developed scaffolds for tissue engineering. In 2008, she worked as laboratory engineer at INRA on the modification of polymer films for food packaging applications. Since 2009, she is associate professor in chemistry and polymer materials at University Paris 13. Her research topics are currently the grafting of bioactive polymers in order to improve the biological response of biomaterials, and the elaboration of porous scaffolds from biodegradable or non biodegradable polymers.

5

SYNTHESIS AND STRUCTURE-PROPERTY RELATIONSHIPS OF BIODEGRADABLE POLYURETHANES

Marija V. Pergal^{1*} and Milica Balaban²

¹ Institute of Chemistry, Technology and Metallurgy (ICTM), Department of Chemistry, University of Belgrade, Njegoševa 12, Belgrade, Serbia ² Faculty of Science, University of Banja Luka, Mladena Stojanovića 2, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

*Corresponding author: <u>marijav@chem.bg.ac.rs</u>

Contents

5.1. INTRODUCTION	143
5.2. SYNTHESIS OF BioPUs	145
5.3. STRUCTURE-PROPERTY RELATIONSHIPS IN BioPUs	147
5.3.1. Soft segments	147
5.3.1.1. Polyester soft segments	147
5.3.1.1.1. Polylactide- and glycolide-based BioPUs	147
5.3.1.1.2. Poly(ε-caprolactone)-based BioPUs	151
5.3.1.1.3. Poly(dimethylsiloxane)-based BioPUs	156
5.3.1.2. Polyether soft segments	159
5.3.2. Hard segments	
5.4. APPLICATIONS OF BioPUs	
5.4.1. Biodegradation and biocompatibility	164
5.4.2. Porous BioPUs-tissue scaffolds	
5.4.2.1. Fabrication of porous BioPUs	
5.4.2.2. Properties and degradation behaviour of porous BioPUs	173
5.4.3. BioPU-based drug delivery systems	175
5.4.4. BioPU-based nanocomposites	178
5.5. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE TRENDS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

5.1. INTRODUCTION

This chapter deals with a commercially very important part of the polyurethane (PU) polymer family, biodegradable polyurethanes (BioPUs). PUs are multiblock copolymers composed of a high molecular weight macrodiol, called a soft segment, and a hard segment composed of a diisocvanate and a low molecular weight diol. As a result of the thermodynamic incompatibility of the hard and soft segments in PU copolymers the phenomenon of microphase separation occurs. Nowadays, it is generally accepted that the overall properties, as well as the biocompatibility, of segmented PU and poly(urethane urea) (PUU) copolymers are correlated to the degree of microphase separation [1,2]. The thermoplastic and elastic behaviour of these copolymers can be explained by their multiphase structure. The elastomeric properties of these copolymers are generally attributed to the phase separation of the hard and soft segments; the hard domains serve as crosslinks and reinforcing fillers in the matrix of the soft segment. It is generally assumed that the soft phase is responsible for the reversible elasticity of the polymeric material, whereas the hard phase is responsible for the mechanical strength properties.

As expected, the properties of the final PU product and, consequently, its application, depend on the chemical structure and composition of the copolymer [3,4]. This means that the nature and properties of the soft and hard segments, which can differ greatly in their chemical structure and polarity, have a crucial role in determining the nature and properties of PUs but, on the other hand, also provide opportunities for the design of polymers with the desired properties [2]. Due to their good mechanical properties and biocompatibility, PUs have been widely used in the biomedical area, mainly as biostable materials such as heart valves, *intra*-aortic balloons, aortic grafts, catheters, pacing lead insulation, etc. [5-9]. Boretos and Pierce [10] first suggested the use of PUs for biomedical applications such as the elastomeric components of a cardiac assist pump and its arterial cannulas in 1967. Avco-Everett Research Laboratory (Everett, U.S.) and Ethicon Corp. (Somerville, U.S.) commercialized the first official PUs for biomedical application, Avcothane™ (1971) and Biomer[™] (1972), respectively [11]. Avcothane[™] was a PU/siloxane hybrid, while Biomer[™] was a version of Lycra[®] T-126. Both of them were synthesized in solution and fabricated from solution, *e.g.* by dipping, spraying or casting, and were not extrudable or mouldable. Avcothane[™] was used as an *intra*-aortic balloon pump and today is on the market under the trademark Cardiothane-51[®] (Arrow International, Reading, U.S.). Biomer[™] was used in the Jarvik Heart and, as the first artificial heart, it was implanted in 1982. Avcothane[™] and Biomer[™] are characterized by many desirable properties, including good thromboresistance, biostability and flex life, needed to make cardiac assist devices safe and efficacious. The first medical grade thermoplastic polyether-urethane was commercialized in 1977 (Upjohn

Chemical, North Haven, U.S.) under the trademark Pellethane^M, and it was used as the catheter for the Avco^M *intra*-aortic balloon pump [12]. Furthermore, due to their good flex life in flowing blood, thermoplastic PUs based on poly(tetramethylene oxide) (PTMO) are used as soft segments in long-term implantation of blood pumps and prostheses.

In the 1990s the interest of scientists shifted from biostability towards the development of biodegradable PUs; biodegradability has become a key issue for novel biomedical applications, ranging from medical device coatings to drug delivery and even tissue engineering. For example, biodegradable elastomeric scaffolds enable the construction or modelling of several soft tissues that include blood vessels, cartilage, smooth muscle cells and cardiovascular tissue [13,14]. Besides that, different implantable devices such as stents, sutures and biosensors can contain biodegradable elastomer parts integrated within their design [15-17]. Actifit[™] is a segmented aliphatic PU based on poly(ε -caprolactone) (PCL), and 1,4-butane diisocyanate (BDI), which has recently arrived on the market. This arthroscopically implanted PU scaffold provides a temporary structure that supports the ingrowth of new tissue to replace the surgically removed damaged meniscal tissue. Here it should be noted that several reactants commonly used in PU formulations such as, for example, 4,4'-diisocyanatodiphenylmethane (MDI) or 3,3'-dichloro-4,4'diaminodiphenylmethane (MOCA or MBOCA), degrade to toxic products and therefore have to be excluded from the synthesis of BioPUs. The choice of reactants in order to obtain polymers with non-toxic degradation products, which will give a medical implant with good mechanical properties, is the main challenge of the production of novel BioPUs [18-20]. The development of properly biodegradable PU materials with appropriate mechanical and target functional properties (e.g. non-toxicity, good biocompatibility, tailored degradation rate from weeks to years) is a focal point of biomedical science, especially in the last decade. In this chapter, recent developments in the synthesis, properties and applications of BioPUs, porous BioPUs and their nanocomposites are presented. Future trends in BioPU development are also addressed.

5.2. SYNTHESIS OF BioPUs

Biodegradability as the key feature of novel biomedical PUs can be achieved by incorporating labile and hydrolysable moieties into the polymer backbones [21-23], usually in macrodiol soft segments such as hydroxyl-terminated oligomers of PCL and polylactides [24-26]. Besides that, it is possible to create BioPUs from biodegradable hard segments by using non-toxic chain extenders and aliphatic diisocyanates [27]. However, regardless of specific requirements in the choice of starting material, the chemistry of BioPU preparation is very similar to that of other PU copolymers.

The basic chemical reaction for the synthesis of PUs is the reaction between a diisocyanate and a difunctional alcohol in which a urethane group is formed. This reaction is a so-called polyaddition reaction which does not generate by-products. The reaction is extremely exothermic (170–190 kJ mol⁻¹) [28], and it is affected by the structure of both reactants. The third component of PU formulation, the low molecular weight diol, is a so-called chain extender. Besides that, when diamines are used as the chain extender in the chain extension step rather than diols, a urea bond is formed, and the resulting PUU copolymers contain both urethane and urea bonds.

Depending on the order of addition of reactants to the reaction mixture, polyaddition can be performed in one or in two stages. In single-stage synthesis, all reactants are added simultaneously at the start of the reaction and then the reaction mixture is heated. The single-stage preparation of PUs, as the conventional industrial process, is quick and easy to perform, but this method does not allow control of the reaction in terms of obtaining a regular sequence of hard and soft segments. This disadvantage of the single-stage synthesis can be overcome by performing the two-stage procedure which involves the synthesis of a prepolymer with terminal NCO groups. The prepolymer is obtained in the form of a viscous liquid or solid with a low melting temperature, by reacting macrodiol with an excess of diisocyanate. In the second reaction step, the prepolymer reacts with a chain extender to form a sequence of hard segments, and the overall molecular weight of the polymer increases. The prepolymer molar mass depends on the molecular weight of the macrodiol and the molar ratio of the starting compounds, and is generally in the range of 1000–5000 g mol⁻¹, and it can be easily stored, which is advantageous for industrial purposes [2].

In the synthesis of PUs, there are several important factors: the type of reactants, monomer concentration, reaction time and temperature, as well as the molar ratio of the reacting groups. Figure 1 shows the synthesis of PU and PUU by the two-stage polyaddition procedure.



Figure 1. The synthesis of PU and PUU by the two-stage polyaddition reaction

The polyaddition reaction takes place in the presence of catalysts such as tertiary amines and organometallic compounds of tin, lead and iron; dibutyltin dilaurate (DBTDL), and tin(II) octoate $[Sn(Oct)_2]$, are commonly used. These compounds act as Lewis acids which, according to the proposed mechanism, in the first stage of the reaction, form the complex intermediate of an isocyanate and a hydroxyl group [28]. The complex formation increases the acidity of the carbon atom of the NCO group, making it more reactive towards the hydroxyl oxygen of the macrodiol.

Methods for the synthesis of segmented PUs also differ in the type of reaction medium. The polyaddition reaction can be carried out in a melt, in a solution of organic solvent or in aqueous solution. Melt polymerization is the main industrial process for the preparation of various commercial PUs, as it reduces production costs and avoids the pollution of large amounts of organic solvents, while polymerization in solution is the most common method in laboratory synthesis of PUs. During polymerization in a melt, the incompatibility of the reactants leads to the formation of a heterogeneous reaction system relatively quickly after the start of the reaction. The composition of the final product is primarily controlled by the rate of diffusion of the reactants from one phase to another, and then by the rate constant for the reaction between the different functional groups. The problem of heterogeneity in the reaction mixture can be avoided by choosing an appropriate solvent, which is critical to promote solubilization and to prevent premature precipitation of the growing polymer chains, thus ensuring copolymers of high molecular weight. Generally, synthesis carried out in solution is accompanied by fewer side reactions than melt synthesis. Side reactions include, for example, the formation of allophanate and biuret linkages, which leads to branching of macromolecular chains and increased molecular weight of the product [2]. For the synthesis of segmented PUs, polar aprotic solvents such as *N*,*N*-dimethylacetamide (DMAc),

N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) and *N*-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP) are commonly used. In the case when the soft and hard segments have extremely different solubility parameters, it is necessary to use a mixture of solvents that have different polarity [29]. Recently, segmented poly(dimethylsiloxane)based PUU copolymers have been synthesized by the two-step solution polymerization procedure in a tetrahydrofuran/NMP mixture with a large proportion of polar NMP solvent, which provides good solubility of the growing chains, thus ensuring copolymers of relatively high molecular weight [30]. Also, the use of isopropanol (IPA) as a solvent for the synthesis of polyurea copolymers with a high hard segment content has been reported [29,31].

5.3. STRUCTURE-PROPERTY RELATIONSHIPS IN BioPUs

5.3.1. Soft segments

BioPUs are generally built of biodegradable polyester or polyether soft segments, such as PCL, poly(D,L-lactide), polyglycolide, poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO) and PTMO. The ester-containing polymers and, in particular aliphatic polyesters, appear the most attractive because of their variable biodegradability and versatile physical, chemical and biological properties. Besides that, PU and PUU copolymers with poly(dimethylsiloxane) (PDMS) as the soft segment play a very important role in special technical and medical applications because of the many unique properties of PDMS, including a low glass transition temperature, low surface energy, high permeability to many gases, biocompatibility and thermal stability [32]. A large number of studied BioPUs contain PDMS mainly in mixtures with aliphatic polyethers or polyesters as co-soft segments [33].

5.3.1.1. Polyester soft segments

5.3.1.1.1. Polylactide- and glycolide-based BioPUs

Among the aliphatic polyester family, polymers derived from lactic acid enantiomers and glycolic acid have been widely investigated for biomedical applications. Poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) matrices are often used as construct materials and tissue scaffolds. They can be custom-synthesized to meet the absorption time requirement, and they are also clinically familiar. There are several methods of processing these porous, synthetic matrices. The most common method is solution casting or particle leaching as developed by Mikos *et al.* [34] which will be discussed later in detail. High weight polylactide (PLA) and polyglycolide (PGA) are obtained by ring-opening polymerization (ROP) of cyclic diesters, *i.e.* L-lactide, D-lactide, D,L-lactide and glycolide [35]. In the case of lactide-containing polymer chains, the chirality of the polymer units provides a worthwhile means of adjusting bioresorption rates as well as physical and mechanical characteristics [36].

The standard catalyst utilized for BioPUs based on lactide polymerization is Sn(Oct)₂ [37-40] with lauryl alcohol (1-dodecanol) which is usually added as a real initiator. The most important characteristic of Sn(Oct)₂ is that this catalyst is considered to be biologically safe [41]. $Sn(Oct)_2$ has many advantages over other catalysts in that it is highly soluble in organic solvents and molten lactide in the bulk state and very stable in storage. With these characteristics, $Sn(Oct)_2$ has been used as the catalyst in the industrial production of PLA. It also shows excellent catalytic activity to give high molecular weight poly(L-lactide) (PLLA) [42]. The mechanism of this tin-catalysed polymerization of lactide has been the subject of discussion for a long time. In the so-called 'insertioncoordination mechanism', a hydroxyl compound (alcohol) is added as the real initiator. The alcohol initiator first reacts with Sn(Oct)₂ to generate a tin alkoxide bond by ligand exchange and then one of the exocyclic carbonyl oxygen atoms of the lactide temporarily coordinates with the tin atom of the catalyst having the alkoxide form. This coordination enhances the nucleophilicity of the alkoxide part of the initiator as well as the electrophilicity of the lactide carbonyl group. In the next step, the acyl-oxygen bond (between the carbonyl group and the endocyclic oxygen) of the lactide is broken, making the lactide chain open to insert into the tin-oxygen bond (alkoxide) of the catalyst. The following propagation is induced by an identical mechanism and continues as additional lactide molecules are inserted into the tin-oxygen bond [43-46]. The insertion-coordination mechanism of lactide polymerization is supported by a Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time-of-Flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrum showing molecular peaks that correspond to the oligomeric PLLA chains connecting with tin residues, which are propagating species formed with the Sn(Oct)₂/lauryl alcohol system [39,47].

PLLA has high mechanical strength, easy processability and a high melting temperature, with an equilibrium melting point of 207 °C and a glass transition temperature of about 60 °C [48-50]. A stereocomplex with a higher melting point comprised of a 1 : 1 mixture of PLLA and poly(D-lactide) is also known [51-54]. Introducing stereochemical defects into PLLA (*e.g.* by incorporating controlled amounts of *meso*-lactide or D-lactide) reduces the melting point, the rate of crystallization and the extent of crystallization with minimal effect on the glass transition temperature [55]. PLA resins containing more than 93 % L-lactic acid are semi-crystalline while PLA with 50–93 % L-lactic acid is amorphous [55]. The presence of either *meso*- or D-lactide units in PLLA leads to imperfections in the crystalline structure, thus reducing the crystallinity percentage. Solubility experiments on P(L,D)LA copolymers with different D to L ratios indicate that copolymers with a close to 50/50 L/D structure show improved solubility. Also, it has been shown that the phase separation of this

P(L,D)LA stereocopolymer is generated most easily from an *n*-hexane solution [56].

Recently, binary and ternary segmented PUs based on low molar mass homopolymers – PEO, PLLA, poly(trimethylene carbonate) (PTMC) and 2,4-toluene diisocyanate (TDI) – have been synthesized using 1,4-butanediol (1,4-BD) and DBTDL as the chain extender and catalyst, respectively. The blocks were randomly distributed in the polymer chains, which resulted in suppression of the crystallization of the blocks in most of the PUs. The intrinsic properties of each block, such as the hydrophilicity of PEO, stiffness of PLLA and elasticity of PTMC, are combined and modulated in the PUs. PTMC confers unique properties to ternary PUs owing to its partial miscibility with both PEO and PLLA [57].

Also, crosslinked PU networks have been prepared by reacting hydroxytelechelic prepolymers with tolylene diisocyanate. Several trifunctional, hydroxy-telechelic polyester and poly(ester carbonate) homopolymers and copolymers were synthesized by the triol-initiated, bulk ROP of D,L-lactide, glycolide, ε -caprolactone, and/or trimethylene carbonate. The poly(D,L-lactide) and poly(D,L-lactide-*co*-trimethylene carbonate) (PLTMC) networks had the highest tensile strengths of 49.60 and 41.27 MPa, respectively, and glass transition temperatures of 51.3 and 21.3 °C, respectively. All other networks were highly flexible with tensile strengths of 12 MPa or less. Tensile properties, monitored as a function of degradation time, indicated that the poly(ε -caprolactone-*co*-D,L-lactide) and PLTMC networks displayed a linear loss of strength with respect to weight during the first 30 days of degradation, while the other networks degraded either too slowly or too quickly to establish such a linear relationship [58].

A series of biodegradable polylactide-based polyurethanes (PLAUs) was synthesized using PLA diol (M_n = 3200) as the soft segment, MDI, TDI and isophorone diisocyanate (IPDI) as the hard segment and 1,4-BD as the chain extender. Among them, the MDI-based PLAU has the highest glass transition temperature, T_g , maximum tensile strength and restoration force, the TDI-based PLAU has the lowest T_g and the IPDI-based PLAU has the highest tensile modulus and elongation at break. They are all amorphous polymers. The shape recovery of the three PLAUs is almost complete in a tensile elongation of 150 % or a two-fold compression. They can keep their temporary shape easily at room temperature (20 °C). More importantly, they can deform and recover at a temperature below their T_g values, which means that they can meet different practical demands for shape-memory medical devices by selecting the appropriate hard segment and adjusting the ratio of hard to soft segments [59].

Recently, Fabbri *et al.* [60] synthesized novel, fully bio-based PLA triblock copoly(ester urethane)s with a controlled molecular architecture by a new solvent-free process which involves coupling ROP with a chain extension reaction. A series of A-B-A triblock copolymers were produced, where the hard

block A is PLA and the soft block B is an *ad hoc*-designed random aliphatic copolyester, poly(butylene succinate/azelate), with high flexibility in the presence of hexamethylene diisocyanate (HDI) as a chain extender. The synthetic approach used to prepare the polymers under investigation allows the typical problems of copolymerization, including a substantial decrease of the melting temperature when significant amounts of comonomeric units are introduced along the homopolymer backbone, to be overcome.

Hsu and Chen [61] prepared lactide-grafted PUs by exposing the PU films to argon plasma discharge, then grafting L-lactide onto the treated surface. The water contact angle of these PUs was decreased by L-lactide grafting, indicating the hydrophilicity of the modified surface. Grafting also increased the O/C atomic ratio and $C_{C=0}/C_{total}$ percentage on the surfaces as detected by electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis (ESCA). The grafted surfaces showed enhanced attachment and growth in both 3T3 fibroblast and human umbilical vein endothelial cell culture tests.

PLLA is a truly bio-based polymer derived from annually renewable resources and due to this, together with the excellent properties noted above, PLLA is regarded as one of the most promising biodegradable polymers [62]. However, the further application of PLLA as a substitute for commodity plastics such as polyethylene or polypropylene is significantly restricted by its inherent brittleness, as evidenced by the limited elongation at break and low impact strength. Considerable efforts have been made to improve the fracture toughness of PLLA, such as the addition of plasticizers, nanoparticles or flexible polymers into the PLLA matrix, or increasing the degree of crystallinity of PLLA [63].

The excellent properties do not change since the chemical structure of PLLA is kept during physical blending. A lot of flexible polymers, both biodegradable and non-biodegradable, have been blended with PLLA to improve its toughness. A novel way of tailoring the physical properties of super-tough PLLA/crosslinked polyurethane (CPU) blends is through adjusting the crosslinking density of in situ-formed CPU. The crosslinking density of CPU can be controlled by the feeding content of the trifunctional monomer glycerol, which in turn affects the phase morphology of PLLA/CPU blends, and thus the physical properties, especially the impact toughness, can be well tuned. PLLA/CPU blends with a CPU phase dispersed in the PLLA matrix were prepared by reactive blending of PLLA with PEO, glycerol and MDI. The gel fraction increased while the swelling ratio decreased with increasing glycerol content. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) analysis suggests that interfacial compatibilization between PLLA and CPU occurs via reaction between the hydroxyl group of PLLA and the isocyanate group of MDI. The elongation at break and notched impact strength of PLLA/CPU blends were increased by up to 38 and 21 times those of neat PLLA [64].

Also, introducing flexible polymers into PLLA is considered as the most efficient way to enhance the fracture toughness of PLLA [65]. Many studies have been carried out to improve the compatibility between PLLA and a flexible polymer. Recently, Shi et al. [66] reported on the structure and composed morphology of ternary nanocomposites of polv(Lа -lactide)/thermoplastic polyurethane (PLLA/TPU) blend and carbon nanotubes (CNTs). The results showed that CNTs selectively localize in the TPU phase, leading to a morphological change from sea-island morphology to quasi-cocontinuous morphology. The high CNT content induces the formation percolated network structure. Consequently. super-toughened of a PLLA/TPU/CNT nanocomposites were prepared successfully. More apparent cavitation of the TPU phase and intensified local plastic deformation of the PLLA matrix under the impact load were observed on the impact-fractured surface of the ternary nanocomposites. These are believed to be the main toughening mechanisms for the ternary nanocomposites. After being annealed, besides the morphological change of the nanocomposites, the PLLA matrix also exhibited a large number of crystalline structures. Furthermore, the impact toughness of the ternary nanocomposites was enhanced further. The same group of authors reported the introduction of dicumyl peroxide (DCP) into commercial TPU-toughened PLLA blends. The results showed that the presence of DCP at a relatively high concentration (0.2-0.5 wt. %) not only results in the homogeneous distribution of TPU particles with largely decreased particle size but also improves the interfacial interaction between PLLA and TPU components. Consequently, super-toughened PLLA/TPU blends with greatly enhanced impact strength have been obtained successfully [67].

Recently, biodegradable CPU has been synthesized using PEO, L-lactide and HDI, with iron acetylacetonate as the catalyst and PEO as the extender. The synthesized CPU possesses good flexibility with a quite low glass transition temperature ($T_g = -22$ °C) and good wettability. Water uptake has been measured as high as 229.7 ± 18.7 %. These properties make CPU a good candidate material for engineering soft tissues such as the hypopharynx. *In vitro* and *in vivo* tests show that CPU has the ability to support the growth of human hypopharyngeal fibroblasts, and angiogenesis has been observed around CPU after subcutaneous implantation in Sprague Dawley (SD) male rats [68].

5.3.1.1.2. Poly(*ɛ*-caprolactone)-based BioPUs

PCL is another biodegradable polyester that has been extensively investigated with great potential in biomedical applications, having an estimated life-time of more than two years. Hydrolysis of the ester bonds in PCL occurs at low rates, particularly in pH values around neutral [69]. For PCL polymers with relatively low molar mass, higher rates of hydrolysis are observed, under both basic and acidic conditions [70]. PCL was first synthesized by Carothers by ROP of ε -caprolactone. The high molecular weight polymer is a strong, ductile

polymer with excellent mechanical characteristics. It is a hydrophobic and semi-crystalline polymer with a melting point of 59-64 °C and glass transition temperature of -60 °C. At room temperature, PCL is in a rubbery state and has a relatively low tensile strength (23 MPa) but very high ultimate elongation (>700%). PCL has the unique characteristic of being miscible with almost all other polymers (polyethylene, polypropylene, polystyrene, poly(methyl methacrylate), polycarbonates, polysulfone, poly(vinyl acetate), *etc.*). High molecular weight PCL is usually used as an additive to other polymers to obtain special effects, but it is also used as the major ingredient in many formulations.

PUs that contain PCL as soft segments commonly present low rates of hydrolysis at neutral pH. These rates are affected by the degree of crystallinity, the molar mass of the PCL segment and the presence of enzymes [71,72]. Linear triblock copolymers, PLLA-b-PCL-b-PLLA, have been synthesized via ROP of L-lactide with three different PCL diols, varying the molecular weight of the blocks as well as the relative content of each block. Poly(ester urethane)s have been synthesized by chain extension of these triblock copolymers using HDI. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and small-angle X-ray scattering (SAXS) experiments have shown that in triblock copolymers the crystallinity of the PCL is strongly influenced by the presence and nature of PLLA. In particular, the presence of PLLA crystals is related to a reduction of the crystal size as well as the degree of crystallinity of the PCL blocks. Poly(ester urethane)s show a lower degree of crystallinity of both blocks than the initial triblock precursors due to the restrictions imposed by the multiblock segmented structure of the final poly(ester urethane). Moreover, the shift in the $T_{\rm m}$ values of both crystalline blocks towards closer values in the poly(ester urethane)s can be attributed to the higher miscibility of the blocks in the PU with respect to the triblock copolymer [73]. BioPUs and PUUs based on PCL and BDI have proved to be biocompatible invivo and to have appropriate mechanical properties [74]. Skarja and Woodhouse [18,75,76] have developed biodegradable segmented PUs based on PCL or PEO macrodiol as the soft segment, with hard segments based on a phenylalanine diester chain extender and L-lysine diisocyanate (LDI). The results of the characterization show that the degradation rate and mechanical properties of these materials can be optimized by blending PCL- and PEO-based PUs. The overall properties of PCLbased PUs are affected by the crystallinity of the soft segment, where the soft segment crystal structure may act as reinforcing filler, which results in increased ultimate tensile strength, initial modulus and strain at break.

Kultys *et al.* [77] synthesized three series of thermoplastic PUs with hard segment content ranging from 20–60 wt. %, using PTMO, PCL or polycarbonate (PC) macrodiols (M_n = 2000 g mol⁻¹) as the soft segments. The copolymers based on PTMO and PCL exhibited higher tensile strength (20.9–42.6 MPa) compared to the analogous copolymers of the PC series (5.6–29.9 MPa) at similar elongation at break (350–750 %). The copolymers of the PC series

showed generally higher hardness and modulus of elasticity. Moreover, for the PTMO and PCL series, decreasing the soft segment content caused a slight deterioration in thermal stability. In each series of copolymers, decreased soft segment content resulted in increased glass transition temperature, tensile strength, modulus of elasticity and hardness, as well as in decreased elongation at break. The PTMO- and PCL-based copolymers showed tensile strength similar to commercial PTMO-MDI-*s*-BD PUs, *i.e.* Pellethane[™] 2103-70A and 85A.

However, PC-based copolymers show poorer tensile strength in comparison with commercial MDI-1,4-BD-based PUs containing poly(hexane-1,6-diylethylene carbonate) diol as the soft segment, *i.e.* Bionate[®] and ChronoFlex[®].

Biodegradable and cell-compatible PUU elastomers with variable mechanical properties and great potential for soft tissue scaffold development have been synthesized by choosing soft segments (SS) of different chemical structure and molecular weight (M_n) . Three different macrodiols (PCL, PTMC or poly(δ valerolactone-*co*-*ɛ*-caprolactone), PVLCL) were reacted with BDI using putrescine as the chain extender by a two-step method, with a macrodiol/BDI/putrescine molar ratio of 1:2:1. PUUs with non-crystalline PTMC or PVLCL macrodiols showed improved elasticity and resilience compared to PUUs with crystalline PCL SS. Figure 2 shows representative stress-strain curves of the PUUs where it can be seen that the polymer tensile strengths range from 30 to 60 MPa and elongations at break from 800 % to 1300%. Varying the PUU SS impacted the mechanical properties in terms of initial modulus and permanent deformation. PUUs with crystalline PCL SS had much higher permanent deformation than those with non-crystalline SS of PTMC or PVLCL. Initial moduli were mainly dependent on SS molecular weight, with higher SS associated with a lower initial modulus [78]. PUUs with noncrystalline SS all showed improved elasticity and resilience relative to crystalline PCL-based PUUs, especially for PUUs with high molecular weight SS (PTMC, $M_n = 5400 \text{ g mol}^{-1}$ and PVLCL, $M_n = 6000 \text{ g mol}^{-1}$), of which the permanent deformation after tensile failure was only $12\pm7\%$ and $39\pm4\%$, respectively. The SS molecular weight also influenced the tensile modulus in an inverse fashion.



Figure 2. Tensile response curves of BioPUUs based on PCL, PTMC or PVLCL macrodiols, BDI and putrescine chain extender at a molar ratio of 1 : 2 : 1, respectively [78]

PCL has a melting temperature, $T_{\rm m}$, of ~ 55 °C. However, PUs and PUUs based on PCL segments have $T_{\rm m}$ values that are lower by 30-40 °C due to the hindrance effects of the physical crosslinking in the hard domain on the crystallization of PCL SS [79,80]. Figure 3 shows DSC thermograms of PUUs based on PCL, PTMC or PVLCL macrodiols. DSC analysis showed that the $T_{\rm m}$ value of PUU-PCL2000 was 31 °C, which means that this sample still exhibited semi-crystalline behaviour at body temperature (37 °C). The crystallinity and $T_{\rm m}$ of PUU-PCL2000 was greatly affected by the deformation history of the sample (Figure 3b). For the sample stretched with a permanent set of 677 %, the stretching gave rise to higher crystallinity and a sharper $T_{\rm m}$ peak (50 °C) than the original sample, whereas after the crystals were melted and the sample was cooled under no stress, the T_m returned to 31 °C. Because the PUU with crystalline PCL SS is susceptible to stretch-induced crystallization under large strain, non-crystalline and biodegradable PTMC or PVLCL were used as the SS to obtain more resilient PUUs. PTMC is an amorphous biodegradable elastomer of a relatively soft nature with a tensile modulus of 2.9 MPa and a T_{g} of 17 °C. The DSC spectra of PUU-PVLCL2500 and PUU-PVLCL6000 showed much lower $T_{\rm m}$ values (-5 and 8 °C, respectively, Figure 3a) than those of PCL.



Figure 3. DSC analysis of (a) PUUs and (b) stretched PUU-PCL2000 (permanent deformation of 677%) with temperature change [78]

Recently, biodegradable PCL/PU has been synthesized by curing with water. To prepare a prepolymer, MDI, PCL diol and PTMO were used. The prepolymer was then cured using H_2O to form a new type of PU, PCL/ H_2O -PU, whose synthesis was confirmed by FTIR analysis. The thermal resistance and glass transition temperature of PCL/ H_2O -PU increased with the H_2O and hard segment content. Stress-strain curves for the PCL/ H_2O -PU samples showed that, with increasing H_2O content, the tensile strength and Young's modulus

increased, but the elongation at break decreased. Wide-angle X-ray scattering (WAXS) patterns indicated that, with a higher H_2O content, the arrangement of polymer chains was more ordered, although the morphology was still amorphous. The degree of swelling in an aqueous ethanol solution and the hydrolytic degradation rate increased with the PCL content. Scanning electron microscopic (SEM) images showed that, during the degradation period, the original wrinkled surface of PCL/H₂O-PU became smooth, and then some cracks were formed. The cracks became more severe when the degradation was conducted at a higher temperature [81].

5.3.1.1.3. Poly(dimethylsiloxane)-based BioPUs

Although PDMS-based PUs and PUUs (PUSs and PUUSs, respectively) are recognized as the most stable PUs for long-term medical implant applications, many of them, especially those with polyester or polyether soft co-segments, have been investigated and used as BioPUs. Due to the specific behaviour and many unique properties of PDMS segments, including low glass transition temperature (-123 °C), low surface energy, good biocompatibility and thermal and thermo-oxidative stability, as well as ultraviolet resistance and high permeability to many gases, PDMS-based PUs are suitable for applications such as elastomers, coatings and biological implants [32,33] and represent a permanent scientific interest of our research group. The first PDMS-based segmented PUs were prepared from hydroxypropyl- and hydroxybutylterminated PDMS. However, these initial attempts resulted in copolymers with rather low molecular weight and poor mechanical properties, mainly due to solubility problems during synthesis [82]. A key feature of PUS and PUUS copolymers is almost complete phase separation between the hard and soft segments in copolymers due to the extremely large differences in the solubility parameters of PDMS and urethane and urea groups (15.6, 37.2 and 45.6 J^{1/2} cm^{-3/2}, respectively) [82]. In some studies, the synthesis of PU and copolymers hydroxyhexyl-, aminopropylpolvurea based on or methylaminopropyl-terminated PDMS with relatively high molecular weight and good mechanical properties was reported [29,82]. Considering the large difference in polarity between the urethane/urea hard segments and the siloxane soft segments, there are now two general approaches to the synthesis of PUS and PUUS copolymers. The first involves the presence of polyether or polyester segments as co-soft segments, in order to improve the miscibility of PDMS with the urethane or/and urea units [83-85]. Gunatillake et al. [86,87] thermoplastic PUs based on mixed PDMS reported that and poly(hexamethylene oxide) (PHMO) as the soft segments exhibit excellent tensile strength (~ 28 MPa), elongation at break (~ 580 %) and Young's modulus (~33 MPa).

However, in PUUS copolymers, the presence of the second soft segment, which has the ability to form hydrogen bonds with the hard segments, can lead to extensive phase mixing of the hard and soft segments and to a deterioration in mechanical properties due to the decrease of phase separation in the copolymers [88,-89]. The second approach to the synthesis of PUS and PUUS copolymers is based on using end-functionalized PDMS as a single soft segment, whereby the terminal units attached to the ends of the siloxane oligomers act as a 'compatibilizer' between the highly polar urethane/urea hard segments and the non-polar siloxane soft segments [85]. Figure 4 shows the structures of some PDMS end-functionalized prepolymers for synthesis of segmented PUs.



Figure 4. Chemical structures of siloxane-containing prepolymers: (a) α, ω dihydroxybutyl-PDMS, (b) α, ω -bis(6-hydroxyethoxypropyl)-PDMS, (c) α, ω -dihydroxy-PCL-*b*-PDMS-*b*-PCL

The synthesis of PU copolymers using siloxane-containing prepolymers with PCL and ethylene oxide terminal units has been described [90-98]; these terminal units of siloxane-containing prepolymers were used in order to increase the miscibility of polar and non-polar reactants. Thermoplastic PU elastomers based on PDMS were synthesized by a two-step polyaddition procedure in solution, from MDI, 1,4-BD and α,ω -dihydroxy-PCL-*b*-PDMS-*b*-PCL [94]. The combination of the properties of PCL and PDMS makes these block copolymers good candidates for surface modifying additives, drug encapsulation and biomaterial applications. With increasing hard segment content (from 9 to 63 wt.%), the storage moduli, microphase separation and hydrophilicity of these copolymers increased. DSC of these samples showed that, depending on their composition, these PUs display the melting temperature of the soft and hard segments or only of the soft segment. PUs with a hard segment content above 20 wt.% had various high temperature transitions which correspond to the melting temperature of the hard segments. The value of the degree of crystallinity of PCL segments (14–42%) tended to decrease with increasing hard segment content, from which it can be concluded that the presence of the hard segments probably disturbs the crystal growth of the PCL segments. The degree of crystallinity of the hard segments ranged from 3% to 15% and increased with increasing hard segment content. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) results showed that formation of the

spherulite superstructure increases with increasing hard segment content. With a change of hard segment content from 9 to 63 wt.%, the properties of the thermoplastic PUs changed from those of softer to tougher polymeric material.

Thermoplastic PUs based on α, ω -bis(6-hydroxyethoxypropyl)-PDMS (EO-PDMS-EO), with PDMS block and hydrophilic terminal ethoxy units, containing 20-60 wt.% hard segment have been synthesized and characterized [91,93]. FTIR, AFM and dynamic mechanic analysis (DMA) confirmed the phaseseparated structure in these copolymers. Three phase transitions were detected by DSC and DMA. The first phase transition (at temperatures from -110 to -102°C) corresponds to the glass transition of PDMS in the soft segment. The second transition was detected in the temperature range from 65 to 75 °C and is a result of the glass transition of the hard segments. The third transition, in the range from 157 to 193 °C, is due to melting of the highly organized (crystalline) hard segments. The degrees of crystallinity of the copolymers were in the range 8.7% to 23.5%, depending on the hard segment content. These thermoplastic PUs showed a spherulite-like structure that is believed to arise from the crystallization of the hard segments. The surfaces of those thermoplastic PUs with higher PDMS content were more hydrophobic, which is attributed to the low surface tension of the PDMS segments and their ability to migrate to the surface.

Potentially biocompatible thermoplastic PUS and PUUS copolymers based on α, ω -dihydroxypropyl-PDMS with different soft segment content have been prepared and characterized [30,97,99]. In these copolymers, the crystallinity, moduli, hydrophilicity, surface free energy and surface roughness increased with decreasing PDMS content. SAXS analysis of PUUS revealed a phase-separated structure, in which the high initial elastic modulus and high tensile strength values of the PUUS copolymers result from the presence of very strong urea bidentate hydrogen bonding in the hard segments.

Recently, preparation and characterization of segmented PUs from α, ω dihydroxypoly(propylene oxide)-*b*-poly(dimethylsiloxane)-*b*-poly(propylene oxide) (PPO-b-PDMS-b-PPO) triblock copolymer as the soft segment and MDI and 1,4-BD as the hard segment have been reported. Incorporation of PPO-b-PDMS-b-PPO leads to improvements in thermal stability. SAXS and WAXS experiments indicate that PUs synthesized with a higher hard segment content have more developed and distinct phase-separated morphology. The water contact angle increases while water absorption decreases with increasing hydrophobic PPO-b-PDMS-b-PPO segment content. SEM and AFM analysis revealed that copolymers with a lower content of PPO-b-PDMS-b-PPO segments have higher microphase separation between segments. demonstrating proper surface and morphological properties with great potential for a variety of applications such as hydrophobic coatings in biomedicine [100,101].

PDMS-based BioPU copolymers often contain PLA segments. Ho et al. [102] have prepared an (AB)_n-type multiblock PU containing alternating PLLA and PDMS segments by chain extension of hydroxy-telechelic PLLA-b-PDMS-b-PLLA triblock copolymers. These triblock copolymers were synthesized by the ROP of L-lactide initiated by α, ω -hydroxyl-functionalized PDMS, using HDI as the chain extender. From the results of thermal analysis, two glass transition temperatures, measured by DSC, showed the occurrence of phase separation phenomena in both the triblock and multiblock copolymers because of the difference of solubility parameters between the PLLA and PDMS segments. The order of the chain extension reaction depended on the weight-average molar mass (M_w) of the triblock copolymer: a second-order reaction was transformed into a third-order reaction as the $M_{\rm w}$ of the triblock copolymer increased from 7000 to 25,000 g mol⁻¹, perhaps because of inhibition of the formation of an active complex involved in the catalysed urethane reaction by polymer chain aggregation. As expected, the mechanical properties of the multiblock PU copolymers demonstrated that the introduction of the extremely flexible PDMS segment substantially improved the elongation at breakage, and the tensile strength and tensile modulus declined due to the intrinsic elasticity of such segments.

Block copolymers of PLA and PDMS can be simply obtained by transesterification reactions with PDMS containing amine ends at moderate temperatures for short reaction times. Hazer *et al.* [103] prepared PLA-*b*-PDMS linear block copolymers which were obtained by the transesterification reaction in chloroform solution between PDMS bis-(2-aminopropyl ether) ($M_n = 2000 \text{ g mol}^{-1}$) with PLA in the presence of stannous octoate. Blends of pure PLA with PLA-*b*-PDMS block copolymers displayed improved elastic properties (elongation up to 140%) compared to pure PLA (elongation ~9%).

5.3.1.2. Polyether soft segments

Polyether-based PUs for biomedical applications usually consist of PTMO or PEO soft segments and hard segments based on MDI and 1,4-BD. However, PEO is considered a better starting material in BioPU formulation for specific applications such as drug delivery, cell encapsulation and tissue engineering due to a large increase in water swelling and decrease in oil swelling in comparison to those based on hydrophobic PTMO soft segments.

It is considered that PU copolymers with PEO soft segments show low nonspecific protein adsorption and are resistant to bacterial and animal cell adhesion due to the intrinsic hydrophilicity of PEO [104,105]. The mechanical properties and degradation rate of PEO-based thermoplastic PUs can be tailored by changing the content and molecular weight of PEO soft segments. The role of soft segment ordering in PU mechanical properties and morphology in semi-crystalline segmented PUs containing either PEO ($M_n = 1000$ and 4600 g mol^{-1}) or PEO-*b*-poly(propylene oxide)-*b*-PEO (PEO-PPO-PEO, M_n = 1900 g mol⁻¹) soft segments and HDI-1,4-BD hard segments (33 wt. %) has been studied [106]. The presence of dispersed semi-crystalline regions within the continuous soft domain has been shown to provide a reinforcing effect when compared to that of a non-crystalline soft segment PU. Incorporating a semi-crystalline soft segment (PEO, 1000 g mol⁻¹) has been shown to improve overall sample toughness. However, if higher molecular weight PEO soft segments are employed (4600 g mol⁻¹), extensibility and, consequently, toughness are adversely affected due to an increased continuous domain modulus. Interdomain hydrogen bonding is suppressed by the presence of a PPO block in the soft segment, leading to hard domains that possess a longer persistence length due to more regular hard segment packing and strong phase separation in PUs based on PEO-PPO-PEO soft segments.

Fromstein and Woodhouse [107] compared BioPU blends made from segmented PUs containing an amino acid-based chain extender and diisocyanate groups and soft segments based on PEO or PCL diols. The highly hydrophilic PEO was incorporated to increase the blends' susceptibility to degradation, while the PCL PU was selected to provide higher moduli and percentage elongations (strains) than the PEO parent materials can achieve. All four blends were determined to be semi-crystalline, elastomeric materials that possess similarly shaped stress–strain curves to that of the PCL-based parent PU. As the percentage composition of PEO PU within the blend increased, the material became weaker and less extensible. The blends demonstrated rapid initial degradation in buffer followed by significantly slower, prolonged degradation, likely corresponding to an initial loss of primarily PEO-containing polymer, followed by slower degradation of the PCL PU. All four blends were successfully formed into three-dimensional porous scaffolds utilizing solvent casting/particulate leaching methods.

5.3.2. Hard segments

For most commercial PUs, aromatic diisocyanates are used because they are much more reactive than aliphatic ones and provide materials with good mechanical properties. However, for BioPU formulations, aliphatic diisocyanates are mostly employed because their ultimate degradation products are more likely to be non-toxic [12,108,109]. Aliphatic or cyclic diisocyanates (HDI, 4,4'-methylenebis(cyclohexyl isocyanate), HMDI, IPDI) are used instead of aromatic diisocyanates, for example MDI and TDI, which are considered to degrade into carcinogenic and mutagenic aromatic amines [110].

The influence of diisocyanates on the properties of PUs is reflected most through the high-temperature properties and crystallinity of these materials; these are mainly studied using DSC and DMA. Barikani and Hepburn [111] were among the first to study the effect of the structure of different diisocyanates on the thermal properties of a series of PUs obtained by two-

stage polymerization from PLC, 1,4-BD and various diisocyanates: CHDI, pphenylene diisocyanate (pPDI), MDI, HDI and an 80/20 mixture of 2,4- and 2,6-TDI. The molar ratio of PCL/diisocyanate/1,4-BD in all examined samples was 1/2.6/1. However, only in later research [112] was the effect of the spatial structure and symmetry of the diisocyanate molecules on the properties of PUs fully recognized. The results showed that the symmetry of the diisocyanate molecule has a major role in determining the morphology of the segmented PU and polyurea copolymers. PUs and polyureas prepared by the reaction of symmetrical diisocvanates have a significantly higher degree of microphase separation than copolymers synthesized from less symmetrical or sterically restricted diisocyanates. In particular, copolymers with symmetrical hard segments showed significantly higher moduli and a wider, temperatureinsensitive rubbery plateau. In addition, compared to thermoplastic PUs, the presence of bidentate hydrogen bonds in polyurea results in substantially more cohesive hard phase formation, which further results in an increase of the moduli and in the expansion of the rubbery plateau in these materials [113].

PUU copolymers with hard segments derived only from diisocyanates linked via urea linkages have been synthesized using two-armed PLC as the soft segment and methyl 2,6-diisocyanatohexanoate (LDI) as the hard segment. The length of the hard segment varied from 4.8 to 11.6 LDI units. Stress-strain measurements showed an increase in elastic modulus, from 146 to 235 MPa, with an increase in hard segment length, while the elongation at break decreased from 980 % to 548 %. FTIR spectroscopy showed an increase in hydrogen bonding as the hard segment length increased [114]. Some authors have reported that aliphatic BDI and LDI can degrade in the body to the diamine putrescine and amino acid lysine, respectively, which play an important role in cell growth and differentiation [115, 116]. Guan et al. [74] reported the synthesis of biodegradable PU and PUU copolymers based on PCL, BDI and a putrescine chain extender. Degradation products from these copolymers demonstrated no toxic effects on human endothelial cells cultured *in vitro*. However, the use of putrescine can be controversial, as some papers describe it as a toxic substance [117].

The most important chain extenders are linear diols such as ethanediol, 1,4-BD, 1,6-hexanediol and hydroquinone-bis-(2-hydroxyethyl)ether. Compared to diols, diamines react with isocyanate groups more quickly, forming hard segments with a higher concentration of hydrogen bonds, which leads to higher glass temperature values of the hard segments and higher thermal stability of the synthesized copolymers. However, for the same reason, polyureas show poor solubility in common organic solvents and it can be more difficult to melt these copolymers. Generally, PUs based on aliphatic diols are softer and more flexible than copolymers based on aromatic diols. PUs which are synthesized without a chain extender, by direct reaction of diisocyanate or macrodiol, generally have very poor physical properties and often do not show microphase separation. The introduction of a chain extender can increase the length of the hard segments, allowing their segregation. This further leads to an improvement in mechanical properties such as the modulus and increased glass transition temperature of the hard segment in the copolymer. Changing the molar ratios of macrodiol and the chain extender can change the properties of PUs from hard and solid materials to the elastomer form, as a result of changes of the weight fraction of the hard segments in the copolymer [28].

The structure of the chain extender has a great influence on the properties of segmented PUs. Copolymers derived from diols with an even number of CH_2 groups can achieve a fully extended conformation that allows hydrogen bonding in both directions perpendicular to the axis of the polymer chain. Such hydrogen bonding is not favourable when diols with an odd number of CH_2 groups are used. Likewise, molecules lower in the series, *i.e.* ethanediol and 1,3-propanediol, are too short, which prevents packing of the MDI residues into the hard segments [118].

Wang and Kenney [119] reported the influence of various chain extenders on the morphology and properties of PUs based on a PTMO soft segment. The tensile strength and modulus of the synthesized copolymers were increased, while the elongation at break was decreased by changing the extender in the order: 1,3-butanediol, 1,5-pentanediol, 1,4-BD. Also, study of the effects of chain extender structure and hard segment content has shown that PUs synthesized from symmetrical and rigid difunctional extenders have superior mechanical and physical properties compared to PUs obtained from asymmetric polyfunctional chain extenders.

Also, the use of chain extenders based on amino acids in BioPUs in order to improve biodegradability mediated by enzymes has been reported [18,75,76]. Caracciolo *et al.* [20] reported the preparation of two series of biomedical segmented polyurethanes (SPU) based on PCL, HDI or LDI and three different chain extenders. Chain extenders containing urea groups or an aromatic amino-acid derivative were incorporated in the SPU formulation to strengthen the hard segment interactions through either bidentate hydrogen bonding or π -stacking interactions, respectively. The structure-property relationships of SPU were investigated by varying the composition of the hard segment (diisocyanate and the chain extender). The different chemical composition and symmetry of the hard segment modulated the phase separation of the soft and hard domains, as demonstrated by the thermal behaviour. The hard segment association was enhanced to a greater extent by using a combination of symmetric diisocyanate and urea-diol chain extenders. The hard segment cohesion had an important effect on the observed mechanical behaviour. PUs synthesized using HDI (Series H) were stronger than those obtained using LDI (Series L). The latter SPU exhibited no tendency to undergo cold-drawing and the lowest ultimate properties. Incorporation of an aromatic chain extender produced the opposite effect, resulting in PUs with the highest elongation and tearing energy (Series H)

and the lowest strain at break (Series L). Since the synthesized BioPUs possess a range of thermal and mechanical properties, these materials may hold potential for use in soft tissue engineering scaffold applications.

Baez et al. [120] have reported the synthesis and characterization of segmented poly(ester-urethane-amide)s (PEUAs) based on PCL and diamide-diol chain extenders (DCEs) of different length (n = 2, 4, 6). PEUAs based on HDI or 1,4-diisocyanatobutane were highly crystalline with high melting points. When the hard segment was derived from LDI, prepared PEUAs showed lower melting points with a much lower crystallinity. PEUAs derived from PCL diols of molecular weight 539, 1243, or 1923 g mol⁻¹, HDI and these DCEs presented a phase-separated morphology as proved by DSC and SAXS, even at a hard segment content as low as 17 %. The hard segment melting point in the PEUAs was lower than for the corresponding hard segment models due to the shorter length of the segments and it increased when the hard segment content increased. For PEUAs of the same hard segment content and the same PCL length, the hard segment melting point decreased when the length of the DCE increased, due to the lower concentration of hydrogen bonds. For PEUAs of the same hard segment content and the same DCE, the hard segment melting point decreased when the length of the PCL decreased because the length of the hard segment increased. The hard segment was thermally less stable than the PCL soft segment, with a slight dependence on chain extender length. SAXS analysis demonstrated that, at temperatures above the melting point of the hard segment, the PEUAs became a homogeneous material that separated again in phases on cooling. The length scale of the phase-separated structure was fairly constant and decreased when the hard segment content was above 54 %, probably due to a change in morphology. Mechanical properties were good and mainly affected by the hard segment content. Water uptake was negligible for PEUAs with longer PCL diols and very small for PEUAs with the shortest PCL diol, due to the crystallinity of the hard segment, while the degradation rate was very slow. The degradation mechanism was proven to be surface erosion.

A variety of poly(ether urethane) networks have been synthesized from epoxidized methyl oleate (EMO)-based polyether polyols, 1,3-propanediol and LDI as a non-toxic coupling agent, with a hard segment content between 31.4 % and 52.3 %. WAXS and DSC results showed that the use of nonsymmetric and methyl ester side chain-containing LDI inhibits any hard segment crystallinity. However, the significant hydrogen bonding of the urethane groups, noted by FTIR, as well as T_g values obtained by DSC and DMA, indicate that the PUs were phase-segregated to varying degrees. Degradation behaviour was found to depend strongly on the hard segment content, as hydrophilicity promotes susceptibility to hydrolysis and leads to a higher degradation rate. The wide range of material properties that have been achieved as well as the use of a potentially non-toxic diisocyanate make these degradable polymers useful for a variety of biomaterial applications [121].

5.4. APPLICATIONS OF BioPUs

5.4.1. Biodegradation and biocompatibility

The term 'biodegradable polymer' has been widely used for polymers that undergo *in vivo* degradation, where biodegradation implies a biological breakdown of material. Some authors extended these definitions to denote materials which form soluble products that can be easily removed from the implantation site and excreted from the body. The definitions of the terms that are now generally accepted were agreed at the Second International Scientific Workshop on Biodegradable Polymers and Plastics (Montpellier, France). Accordingly, polymer degradation is a deleterious change in the properties of a polymer due to a change in the chemical structure, while a biodegradable polymer is a polymer in which the degradation is mediated, at least partially, by a biological system. A bioabsorbable polymer is a polymer that can be assimilated by a biological system and erosion reflects the process of dissolution or wearing away of the polymer from the surface. In the case of biodegradable polymers, the prefix 'bio' is usually considered as reflecting phenomena resulting from contact with living elements such as tissues, cells, bodily fluids or microorganisms. Both natural and synthetic biodegradable polymers can be the subject of controlled degradation under the inherent environmental stress in biological systems with or without enzyme-assisted mechanisms. Besides enzymes, water and oxygen are regarded as biological elements, although a lot of authors still tend to limit discussions of biodegradation to enzymatic attack only. Medical applications of these materials cover a wide spectrum of activities including the controlled release of drugs, fertilizers and pesticides, absorbable surgical implants, skin grafts and bone plates. In addition to medical applications, another important motive for the development of new biodegradable polymers is connected to waste management of polymer packaging materials [122].

Biodegradation of various PU elastomers is mainly a consequence of cleavage of hydrolytically sensitive bonds present in their soft segments, although oxidative degradation of urethane bonds of the hard segments into amines has also been reported. The key factors that determine the kinetics of the hydrolytic degradation of BioPUs are their chemical structure and composition [58]. Guan *et al.* [25] showed that the *in vitro* degradation rate of BioPUs based on mixed triblock PCL-PEO-PCL soft segments (PEEUU) depends on their soft segment structure. Increasing PEO length or decreasing PCL length in the triblock segment increased PEEUU water absorption and the biodegradation rate. Also, poly(ester urea urethane) (PEUUR) foams, based on mixed PCL, glycolide and poly(D,L-lactide) soft segments, LDI and glycerol, degraded *in vitro* to non-cytotoxic decomposition products. Differences in the half-life of these polyester triol components translated to differences in the degradation rate of the BioPU foams [123]. The tensile properties of crosslinked PU networks, prepared by bulk ROP of D,L-lactide, glycolide, ε -caprolactone and/or trimethylene carbonate, were monitored as a function of degradation time. The results of these experiments indicated that the poly(ε -caprolactoneco-D,L-lactide) and PLTMC networks displayed a linear loss of strength with respect to weight during the first 30 days of degradation, while the other networks degraded either too slowly or too quickly to establish such a linear relationship [58].

Ma *et al.* [78] studied hydrolytic degradation of biodegradable PUU elastomers based on three different macrodiols with molecular weights ranging from 2000 to 2500 g mol⁻¹ (PCL, PTMC or PVLCL, BDI and putrescine as the chain extender). Accelerated degradation experiments were conducted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 100 U mL⁻¹ lipase and they showed significantly greater mass loss for the two polyester-based PUUs versus the PCbased PUU and for PVLCL versus PCL polyester PUUs (Figure 5). Basic cytocompatibility was demonstrated with primary vascular smooth muscle cell culture. The synthesized families of PUUs showed variable elastomeric behaviour that can be explained in terms of the underlying molecular design and crystalline behaviour.



Figure 5. Degradation curves of PUUs in PBS solution containing 100 U mL $^{-1}$ lipase at $37\,^{\circ}\text{C}$ [78]

Besides that, urethane, urea and ester bonds are also susceptible to enzymatic degradation to free amines and α -amino alcohols, respectively, which means that the process of biodegradation can occur in BioPU hard segments [124,125].

On the other hand, biocompatibility, in the broadest sense, implies the ability of the polymer to be in contact with a living system without producing an adverse effect [126]. The ideal biomaterial is, thus, non-toxic, non-

immunogenic and accepted by the human body [127]. However, the concept of biocompatibility gets a specific meaning only in terms of the final use of the material. For example, it is important that biomaterials for vascular graft have low thrombogenic potential and allow proper spread of endothelial cells; materials used as scaffolds in regenerative medicine must support extracellular matrix deposition, cell attachment and proliferation; drug delivery systems must avoid interactions with blood, proteins, cells and the coagulation system, and avoid accumulation in organs of the reticuloendothelial system and alterations of the immune system.

Therefore, systematic investigation of the biocompatibility of a polymer or other material includes a battery of tests which proves its safety for biomedical application. The full battery of tests recommended by the Food and Drug Administration for the specific material and device can be found in the ISO 10993 guidelines. For example, initial tests for an implant device in prolonged or permanent contact with blood include evaluation of cytotoxicity, sensitization, irritation or intracutaneous reactivity, systemic toxicity (acute), subchronic toxicity (subacute toxicity), genotoxicity, haemocompatibility and effects after implantation. Elastomeric BioPUs have been proposed for use in orthopaedic applications (bone tissue substitutes, cartilage repair) [128,129], for abdominal wall repair, as a temporary support for transplanted human retinal pigment epithelium cells, as a tracheal prosthesis and in soft tissue engineering [130]. Keeping in mind the broad spectrum of PU biomedical applications, this section will focus only on the issues related biocompatibility, degradation behaviour and overall properties of BioPU-based porous tissue scaffolds and drug delivery systems, as well as nanocomposites. but not on other numerous biostable PUs, the detailed discussion of which is given elsewhere [113].

5.4.2. Porous BioPUs-tissue scaffolds

Scaffolds play a crucial role in tissue engineering, which represents the fabrication of functional replacements for damaged tissues or organs [131]. The function of tissue scaffolds is to provide an appropriate base for tissue growth and cell proliferation, while simultaneously undergoing controlled degradation to non-cytotoxic decomposition products *in vivo* and supporting the growth and proliferation of the required cell types [132]. Artificial scaffolds utilized in regenerative medicine and in tissue engineering should have mechanical properties resembling those of the healthy target tissue in order to avoid inflammatory reactions. Elastic moduli of natural tissue vary over several orders of magnitude, from units of kPa (*e.g.* in brain) to units of MPa (in bone tissue). PUs and PUUs have been identified as two of the most promising kinds of biomaterials with the above-mentioned properties. From a biocompatibility point of view, the most important issues regarding tissue scaffolds are the cytotoxicity of the original structure and the degradation products as well as the degradation rate of the polymer. Cytotoxicity is

assessed through different in vitro methods, e.g. cell integrity and mitochondrial activity, LDH (lactate dehydrogenase) and MTT (3-[4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl-tetrazolium bromide) assays or following in vivo implantation of the investigated biomaterial through various histological techniques. Biodegradation is estimated after real-time (at 37 ± 1 °C) or accelerated (at 70 ± 1 °C) degradation through evaluation of mass reduction, molecular weight, FTIR, UV analysis of leaching and the morphology of the surface and cross section of polymers [130]. In addition to non-toxicity and a satisfactory degradation rate, tissue scaffolds should be characterized by a suitable, porous structure with uniformly distributed interconnected pores to allow cell and tissue ingrowth. Depending on the specific application, scaffolds are designed to have great porosity (above 90%) and proper pore dimension (from ten to hundreds of µm). According to the literature, the proper pore diameter in scaffolds for skin regeneration is in the range from 20 to 150 µm, while for bone, the best pore size is from 200 to 400 µm. Also, scaffolds designed for liver regeneration should have a pore diameter of 20 µm to allow the growth of hepatocytes [133].

5.4.2.1. Fabrication of porous BioPUs

A great advantage of BioPU polymers compared to other biodegradable materials is the ability to be processed in a wide range of conditions to fabricate porous tissue scaffolds. Techniques for the fabrication of three-dimensional porous structures are based on transforming polymers from the solid to liquid state, mostly by melting or dissolving [131].

The most common method is solvent casting/particle leaching (SCPL) [134-139] as developed by Mikos [34], which involves leaching out solid particles from the polymer solution. In this technique, particles with a specified diameter are added to the polymer solution, with a concentration in the range from 5 % to 2 0% [131]. After solvent evaporation by air-drying, vacuumdrying or freeze-drying, salt particles remain embedded throughout the polymer matrix. After immersion in water, salt particles are leached out, leaving a porous structure. By this technique, highly porous scaffolds with porosity up to 93 % and average pore sizes of up to 500 µm can be obtained [140]. Sin et al. [141] reported the fabrication of highly porous threedimensional scaffolds with a well-interconnected porous structure at a polymer solution concentration of up to 20 % by air- or vacuum-drying to remove the solvent. When salt particle sizes of 212-295, 295-425 or 425–531 µm and a 15 % w/v polymer solution concentration were used, the porosity of the scaffolds was between 83 % and 92 % and the compression moduli of the scaffolds were between 13 and 28 kPa. Type I collagen acidic solution was introduced into the pores of a PU scaffold to coat collagen onto the pore walls throughout the whole PU scaffold. SEM analysis confirmed that the human aortic endothelial cells (HAECs) were cultured in the collagencoated PU scaffold for 2 weeks. This enhanced SCPL method which involved the combination of the conventional method, a centrifugation step and collagen coating resulted in a spatially uniform distribution of cells throughout the collagen-coated PU scaffold. In this case, the centrifugation step resulted in improved pore uniformity and pore interconnectivity of scaffolds.

In a combined salt leaching-phase inverse technique, PU is dissolved in a good solvent and then a non-solvent is dropped into the polymer solution. When the good solvent in the polymer solution is exchanged for a non-solvent, the polymer precipitates to form a polymer paste. A solid porogen with different particle sizes is added to the paste upon vigorous stirring. Finally, the solvent/non-solvent and the porogen are removed using water, and a porous scaffold forms [142]. BioPUs based on HDI, PCL and a biologically active isosorbide diol as the chain extender, have been processed into 3D porous scaffolds by applying the combined salt leaching-phase inverse process. The critical parameters controlling pore size and geometry are the choice of solvent and non-solvent used for scaffold preparation and the size of the solid porogen crystals. Scaffolds prepared from a polymer solution in solvents such as dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) or NMP do not have a homogenous pore structure which means that numerous pores are closed. The scaffolds fabricated in DMF show the best pore structure [134].

Gas foaming is a well-known process in PU technology used for the production of flexible and rigid polyurethane foams (PUR) [143]. In the gas foaming method, chain extension with water can be used to obtain PUU copolymers. During this type of chain extension reaction, carbon dioxide is generated and it can be used to produce a pore structure. This method of fabrication of porous BioPUs has a huge advantage because the use of potentially toxic solvents and porogenic components, used often in some other techniques, can be avoided. However, using this method it is very difficult to obtain porous structures with pores of controlled size and interconnectivity. During gas foaming, large, closed pores can be created inside the polymer scaffold, which makes adequate cell proliferation improbable [144-147]. Scaffolds made by gas foaming are usually used for reconstruction of bone defects resulting from the treatment of bone fractures or tumours or for the reconstruction of bone tissues. Kim et al. [144] applied PU foaming fabrication to manufacture a bone scaffold satisfying various functional requirements. As a result, bone scaffolds having a pore size ranging from 300 to 800 µm and a porosity ranging from 75% to 85% can be manufactured using this process. In in vitro and in vivo animal tests, it has been confirmed that the scaffold manufactured in this study can be effectively used as a bone scaffold which is biocompatible and has the ability to induce bone differentiation and regeneration. Gorna and Gogolewski [148] reported the synthesis of crosslinked 3D BioPU (foam) scaffolds with controlled hydrophilicity for bone graft substitutes. These scaffolds had hydrophilic-to-hydrophobic content ratios of 70: 30, 50: 50 and 30: 70 and they were prepared from HDI and a PEO diol as a hydrophilic component, and PCL diol, amine-based polyol or

sucrose-based polyol as a hydrophobic component, water as the chain extender and a foaming agent in the presence of different catalysts. The scaffolds had an open-pore structure with pores whose size and geometry depended on the material's chemical composition. The compressive strengths of these open pore-structured scaffolds were in the range of 4–340 kPa and the compressive moduli in the range of 9–1960 kPa, the values of which increased with increasing PLC content. Of the two materials with the same amount of PLC, the compressive strengths and moduli were higher for the one containing inorganic fillers.

Thermally-induced phase separation (TIPS) is a technique that includes quenching of the polymer solution below the freezing point of the solvent and the formation of two phases with different polymer content. The solid formed in the polymer-rich phase is imbued with crystals formed in the polymer-poor phase. These crystals are removed, leaving a highly porous structure (more than 90%) [149-151]. A composite scaffold is fabricated using the TIPS process from chemically very different poly(lactic-co-glycolic) (PLGA) and BioPU copolymers. This processing method has been tuned to allow molecular mixing of these two polymers and controlled phase separation behaviour. Pure PLGA scaffolds possess a smooth, directional fibrous sheet-like structure with pore sizes of 0.1-200 mm, a porous Young's modulus of 93.5 kPa and are relatively brittle to touch. Pure PU scaffolds have an isotropic emulsion-like structure, a porous Young's modulus of 15.7 kPa and are much more elastic than PLGA scaffolds. On the other hand, the composite PLGA / PU scaffold exhibits advantageous morphological, mechanical, cell adhesion and growthsupporting properties [149].

Melt moulding is another conventional method for porous scaffold fabrication which is considered as the most convenient and economical, since it allows the rapid production of polymer scaffolds of various shapes and sizes. A biodegradable polymer, in the form of granules or powder, is placed in a mould together with the porogen compounds and this mixture is heated above the polymer's glass transition temperature (T_g) at elevated pressure [131]. After the formation of a scaffold, the porogen is leached out, in a way similar to the SCPL method, leaving a porous structure. This procedure does not require use of organic solvents, but may include the presence of a non-porous layer on the surface of the scaffold and incomplete leaching out of the porogen compound.

The use of a combination of these conventional methods is also reported. Thus, porous scaffolds have been made from two PUs based on the TIPS of a polymer dissolved in a DMSO / water mixture in combination with salt leaching. In this way, it is possible to obtain very porous foams with very high interconnectivity [152]. Also, a PUU-based porous scaffold designed for bone tissue engineering is prepared by using a mixture of inorganic (sodium chloride) and polymeric PEO porogen and the compression moulding process under optimum conditions. Leaching out the impregnated porogen particles by soaking in water (as a safe solvent) leads to a final scaffold with the desired morphology.

An increase in the pore interconnectivity is observed as the NaCl / PEO ratio is increased while the scaffold with an NaCl / PEO ratio of 60 : 25 exhibits suitable morphology for osteoblast cell attachment and growth [153].

Some advanced techniques such as electrospinning [154,155], rapid prototyping [156,157] including different methods of 3D printing and 3D plotting have also been developed [158-162].

Electrospinning is a method that produces fibrous scaffolds where electric force is used to draw charged threads from polymer solutions or melts. The diameters of the obtained fibres are in the range from tens of microns to tens of nanometres. Although either synthetic or natural materials can be used without concerns regarding unfavourable immune responses or disease transmission, synthetic polymers, including PUs, allow a greater ability to tailor the mechanical properties and degradation rate of scaffolds [163]. Electrospinning can be altered to influence either the surface topography of the fibres themselves or the larger topography of the 'web' of spun fibres. Improved deposition efficiencies are a necessary advance needed to maintain the attractiveness of this technique. While the role of residual solvent in the electrospun polymer remains unclear, high pressure CO_2 can be used to enhance chemical functionality while maintaining polymer morphology. Electrospun pore sizes, as spun, are typically too small for cells to pass through. These scaffolds usually need to be subjected to additional processing to improve internal proliferation [164].

Recently, a composite scaffold consisting of an electrospun biodegradable poly(ether ester urethane)urea (BPUR) and PEO hydrogel has been investigated for aortic valve tissue engineering. This multilayered approach permitted the fabrication of a scaffold that met the desired mechanical requirements while enabling the 3D culture of cells. The scaffold was tuned to mimic the tensile strength, anisotropy and extensibility of the natural aortic valve through design of the electrospun PU mesh layer. Valve interstitial cells were encapsulated inside the hydrogel portion of the scaffold around the electrospun mesh, creating a composite scaffold approximately 200 µm thick. Figure 6 shows SEM images which were analysed to determine the fibre diameter and degree of alignment for the electrospun meshes of the BPUR / PEO composite scaffolds. The fibres were smooth with homogeneous morphology (a) and average fibre diameters of $0.50 \pm 0.07 \,\mu$ m. Fibre alignment analysis indicated that fibres were predominately aligned in one direction (b). Measurements taken from both stereomicroscopic images and cryosections were used to determine the average thickness of the BPUR. The electrospun measured as 95.5 ± 3.8 μm BPUR meshes were thick using the stereomicroscope and $91.7 \pm 4.79 \,\mu\text{m}$ using cryosections. Combined, these measurements yield an average thickness of $94.2 \pm 5.2 \mu m$ [165].



Figure 6. (A) SEM of electrospun BPUR; scale = $10 \ \mu m$; (B) histogram of fibre angle showing the alignment of fibres; (C, D) SEM images of electrospun BPUR under tension applied either (C) parallel or (D) perpendicular to the fibre alignment; grey = direction of primary alignment of electrospun fibres; black = direction of applied force; scale = $10 \ \mu m$ [165].

Another method for tissue scaffold fabrication is 3D printing, an additive manufacturing technique that allows fabrication of modular and patient-specific scaffolds with high structural complexity and design flexibility. This technology enables the design and fabrication of constructs based on tissue images captured with commonly used medical imaging techniques such as computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [166]. Common 3D printing methods involve the use of heat, toxic organic solvents or toxic photoinitiators for fabrication of synthetic scaffolds. Hsieh *et al.* [167] have recently reported the synthesis of two thermoresponsive BioPU dispersions. These water-based BioPUs were able to form a gel near 37 °C

without any crosslinkers. They found that the newly developed 3D bioprinting technique involving neural stem cells (NSCs) embedded in thermoresponsive BioPU ink offers new possibilities for future applications of 3D bioprinting in neural tissue engineering. Their findings suggest that NSCs embedded in the appropriate PU hydrogels may have the potential to rescue the function of an impaired nervous system in neurodegenerative diseases [162,167].

Pfister et al. [168] compared the scaffolds fabricated by two different 3D processes from an aliphatic BioPU based on LDI and IPDI. Layer-by-layer construction of the scaffolds was performed by 3D printing, that is, by bonding together starch particles followed by infiltration and partial crosslinking of starch with LDI. Alternatively, the 3D bioplotting process permitted threedimensional dispensing and reactive processing of poly(ether urethane)s derived from IPDI, PEO, and glycerol. They concluded that both 3D printing and 3D bioplotting are capable of producing BioPU scaffolds, but they also highlighted some differences between these two methods. In the 3D bioplotting process, PU prepolymers are used to form interconnected strands, similar to non-woven materials, composed of PU networks. In contrast, the 3D printing requires а two-step fabrication involving process the dextrose / water-mediated bonding of starch / cellulose powder mixtures followed by infiltration and crosslinking of the polysaccharides with lysine ethyl ester diisocyanates. Although the speed of 3D printing is higher than that of 3D bioplotting, the second post-treatment step required only for 3D printing is time-consuming. Dextrose / water-mediated powder particle bonding in 3D printing gives scaffolds with very rough surfaces and heterogeneous crosslinking, whereas the extrusion process typical for 3D bioplotting produces interconnected strands with very smooth surfaces and homogeneous crosslinking. However, this difference in surface roughness does not lead to improved cell adhesion and faster cell proliferation. Because of the limitations with respect to the average powder particle sizes $(50-150 \,\mu\text{m})$ in 3D printing and the preferred average nozzle diameters (150-250 µm) of the 3D bioplotter, the resulting accuracy is similar for both technologies. In contrast, stereolithography does not possess the extraordinary flexibility of the 3D bioplotting process with respect to the free choice of materials ranging from melts, solutions, reactive resins, pastes and cements to bioactive components such as proteins, hydrogels and even cells. However, the large dimensions of living cells make ultrahigh precision and resolution less prominent issues in scaffold fabrication for tissue engineering applications. The mechanical properties of these PU networks are primarily affected by the composition of the PU networks. For the 3D bioplotting process, the compositions can be varied over a very wide range, whereas the post-treatment step of the 3D printing process is much less flexible.

5.4.2.2. Properties and degradation behaviour of porous BioPUs

The use of PU scaffolds in orthopaedic applications is based on their mechanical properties, *i.e.* on the ability to maintain their shape and structure *in vivo*. The ability of PU to support cell-material interactions and calcium phosphate deposition (as a measure of new bone formation) can be enhanced by the incorporation of isoprenoid molecules into the PU chain [169] and by increasing the hydrophilicity of the scaffold [128]. The cytocompatibility of BioPUs evaluated for orthopaedic applications has been confirmed after successful cultivation of human bone-derived cells or bovine chondrocytes for as long as 14 days *in vitro* [170]. The PU scaffolds also kept their ability to produce a specific human bone extracellular matrix *in vivo* after implantation into immunodeficient mice for 4 and 13 weeks [170] and to promote healing of sheep iliac crest defects to varying extents after 6 months of implantation [128]. Another potential application of thermoplastic PUs for improving the visual results of patients with age-related macular degeneration was proposed by da Silva et al. [171]. They showed that PU aqueous dispersions based on PCL and / or PEO as the soft segments, and IPDI and hydrazine as the hard segments, are a suitable base support for the adhesion and growth of human retinal pigment epithelial cells. Implantation into the subretinal space of rats for 15 days did not produce any sign of acute or chronic inflammation or necrosis, and the architecture of the retina and other ocular tissues was preserved. In addition, the hydrolytic biodegradation process was favoured due to the ester bonds of the PCL and the degradation products were noncytotoxic to retinal pigment epithelial cells. Furthermore, in order to enhance the bioactivity and biocompatibility of poly(ester urethane)urea (PEUU) used for abdominal wall repair, Hong et al. [172] created a biodegradable elastomeric scaffold by combining PEUU with varying porcine dermal extracellular matrix (dECM) digest content. dECM was used since it contains multiple growth factors and chemotactic agents which recruit progenitor cells insitu and promote tissue remodelling. No herniation, infection or tissue adhesion was observed after 8 weeks in a rat full-thickness abdominal wall replacement model. For soft tissue engineering applications, the biodegradability of thermoplastic PUs can be accelerated by enhancing susceptibility to collagenase and elastase, proteolytic enzymes involved in the degradation of the ECM. This can be achieved, for example, through the incorporation of type I collagen or an elastase-sensitive peptide sequence into the polymer scaffolds [130].

Chemically modified poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) is receiving increasing attention for use as a biomimetic copolymer for cell growth. Recently, Reyes *et al.* [173] reported preparation of a composite scaffold of grafted poly(3hydroxybutyrate) PU with improved mechanical properties and a great potential for tissue engineering. Three different PUUs with similar soft segment molecular weight from 2000 to 2500 g mol⁻¹ (PUU-PCL, PUU-PTMC and PUU-PVLCL) were subjected to accelerated degradation in lipase buffer. The mass loss over the measurement period from the two polyester-based PUUs, PUU-PCL2000 and PUU-PVLCL2250, was markedly higher (p < 0.05) than that for the PC-based PUU-PTMC2500. The two polyester-based PUUs also exhibited differences from one another in terms of mass loss, with PUU-PVLCL2250 losing greater mass than PUU-PCL2000 at day 21 (p < 0.05). The intrinsic viscosities of the three samples, PUU-PCL2000, PUU-PTMC2500 and PUU-PVLCL2250, significantly decreased after one week in lipase buffer (2.17 ± 0.01 to 0.48 ± 0.13 , 1.74 ± 0.02 to 0.66 ± 0.06 and 1.76 ± 0.01 to 0.40 ± 0.02 dL g⁻¹, respectively; p < 0.01). Although PUU-PTMC2500 experienced relatively less viscosity loss than the other two polymers, the viscosity loss was greater as a proportion than one might expect based on the measured mass loss.

To optimize tissue regeneration in different tissues, it is desirable that the degradation rate of scaffolds can be manipulated to comply with the various stages of tissue regeneration. Xu et al. [174] reported on a new family of reduction-sensitive BioPU elastomers containing various amounts of disulfide bonds (PU-SS) that were designed to achieve better control of the degradation process. Thus, degradation in PU-SS can be initiated and accelerated with the supplement of a biological product: the antioxidant glutathione (GSH). PUs can be processed into films and electrospun fibrous scaffolds. Synthesized materials exhibited robust mechanical properties and high elasticity. Accelerated degradation of materials was observed in the presence of GSH, and the rate of such degradation depends on the amount of disulfide present in the polymer backbone. The polymers and their degradation products exhibited no apparent cell toxicity while the electrospun scaffolds supported fibroblast growth in vitro. The in vivo subcutaneous implantation model showed that the polymers prompt minimal inflammatory responses and, as anticipated, polymers with a higher amount of disulfide bonds had faster degradation in vivo.

Tissue engineering implies the fabrication of scaffolds with high elasticity and strength combined with controllable biodegradable properties. New synthesis and fabrication strategies for BioPUs are often focused on tuning scaffold degradability without significantly affecting all morphological properties. Spagnuolo and Liu [175] prepared two similar L-tyrosine (DTH)-based PUs, blended them in the desired ratios, electrospun into morphologically acceptable fibrous scaffolds, characterized and subjected them to hydrolytic degradation testing. The scaffolds containing a higher percentage of the less resilient PEO₁₀₀₀-HDI-DTH degraded to a greater extent than those containing a lower percentage of the polymer (or a higher percentage of PCL₁₂₅₀-HDI-DTH) regardless of the composition of blends and configurations (electrospun scaffold and thin films). Degradation of the electrospun scaffolds was faster than that of thin films with the same polymer composition. However, while the

degradation results were notably different between blends, pore size and fibre diameter were not statistically distinct from one another across all blends.

Guan *et al.* [151] synthesized two kinds of biodegradable PUU, PEUU and poly(ether ester urethane)urea (PEEUU) from PCL, PCL-*b*-PEO-*b*-PCL, BDI and putrescine, for applications such as cell scaffolds in cardiovascular tissue engineering or other soft tissue applications. PEUU and PEEUU were further fabricated into scaffolds by the TIPS method using DMSO as a solvent. The PEUU scaffolds were flexible with breaking strains of 214 % and higher, and tensile strengths of approximately 1.0 MPa, whereas the PEEUU scaffolds generally had lower strengths and breaking strains. Scaffold degradation in aqueous buffer was related to the porosity and polymer hydrophilicity. Smooth muscle cells were filtration-seeded in the scaffolds and it was shown that both scaffolds supported cell adhesion and growth, with smooth muscle cells growing more extensively in the PEEUU scaffold.

5.4.3. BioPU-based drug delivery systems

Controlled drug delivery is one of the key topics of modern medicine. Substantial efforts have been made to improve bioavailability by preventing premature degradation and enhancing uptake, to maintain the drug concentration within the therapeutic window by controlling the drug release rate and to reduce side effects by targeting disease sites and target cells [176]. The release of drugs from polymeric systems refers to a process in which drugs migrate from their initial position inside a polymer matrix to the release medium. Alternatively, drug molecules which are initially adsorbed onto a material surface might be released once brought into contact with an external medium [177]. However, it should be noted that the incorporation of drugs into polymeric systems, especially at high drug concentrations, cannot only affect the polymer properties of the systems, but also influence the release mechanisms and therapeutic efficiency of the drug. The understanding of these small molecule-polymer systems contributes greatly to developing other polymeric systems with desired properties.

Delivery applications of BioPUs are based on the fact that PUs swell when exposed to solvents. Once a material is imbedded in a PU matrix, the matrix can deliver the solvent or active ingredient in a number of ways, including solubility and vapour pressure. Other polymer systems have this ability, but the versatility of the PU molecule (*e.g.* hydrophilicity or hydrophobicity) gives it special properties. Also, the ability to produce BioPUs as foams or elastomers grants additional degrees of freedom in the design of products with desired properties [178]. Drug delivery systems based on BioPUs can be in the form of nano- or microparticulate systems [179] such as micelles [180-182] nanoparticles [183,184], nanocapsules [185-187], microspheres [188,189] and pellets [190], as well as membrane systems [191-195].

Drugs can be covalently bound to PU segments, usually through interaction of suitable functional groups of the drug (*e.g.* hydroxyl or amine) with isocyanate, obtaining in that way drug incorporated into the polymer backbone [196] or dispersed in PU matrices [197]. Covalently bound drugs are released from the polymer via passive hydrolysis of urethane and urea bonds following their degradation rate [196], while the release of dispersed drugs depends on drug loading, the solubility of the drug in the matrix and intermolecular interactions between them, as well as on the swelling properties of the polymer [177]. PUbased systems have to date been evaluated for delivery of various as antibiotics [198], pharmaceutical agents such non-steroid antiinflammatory drugs [199], anticancer drugs [200], growth factors, etc.

PU-based nano/microparticles are receiving much attention since their chemistry, size, shape and degree of porosity can be adjusted according to the end application. Amphiphilic PU copolymers self-arrange in a spherical form with a hydrophobic core, which serves as a reservoir of drug, and a hydrophilic shell, which stabilizes the structure in aqueous solution. This is particularly useful when a hydrophobic drug (e.g. most anticancer drugs) needs to be encapsulated, as well as when a long retention time in the circulation is desired. In addition, due to the flexibility of PU chemistry, the surface of PUbased microparticles can be functionalized with bioactive molecules in order to obtain targeted drug release. For example, the introduction of folic acid onto the outer micellar layer of PCL- and LDI-based PU nanomicelles results in enhanced cellular uptake and improved drug efficacy towards folic acid receptor-positive HeLa cancer cells in vitro [201]. In a similar manner, PCLbased PU microparticles derived from a tripeptide arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) are proposed to prefer endothelial cells of tumour neovasculature over mature endothelial cells of healthy blood vessels, since the former express higher levels of integrin receptors [200].

Due to their customizable molecular structures, BioPU-based micelles with redox-responsive properties have been used as anticancer drug delivery systems. He et al. reported preparation of these BioPU-based micelles with redox-responsive properties using bis(2-hydroxyethyl) disulfide as the chain extender [202]. Disulfide bonds can be easily introduced into the hard segment of PUs by conventional two-step polymerization processes, which result in random distribution of the reduction-responsive disulfide linkages in PUs. Yao et al. [180] proposed that the disassembly and drug release profiles of PU micelles are related to the location of the disulfide linkages in the polymer main chain. In this study, BioPU copolymers were synthesized from the same amount of PEO, PCL and LDI and cystamine dihydrochloride (Cys) as the chain extender; two kinds of redox-responsive micelles with the same quantity of disulfide bonds, but at different locations, were prepared. In the first of them most of the disulfide bonds were located in the hydrophobic core of the PU micelles (PU-SS-C) while in the second, disulfide bonds were located primarily at the interface between the hydrophobic core and the hydrophilic shell (PU-

SS-I). Paclitaxel (PTX), as the model hydrophobic drug, was chosen to evaluate the loading and redox-triggered release of the PU micelles. It was demonstrated that the PU-SS-I micelles disassemble simultaneously in response to a 10 mM GSH stimulus and the payloads release more rapidly than those of PU-SS-C nanocarriers. These results showed that the release profiles of PU-based nanocarriers can be optimized by the location of the disulfide bond on the PU main chain.

Also, the use of BioPUs for chemical modification of natural polymers has become a very attractive field for improving their properties and making them suitable for controlled drug delivery applications [203,204]. Thus, BioPUmodified chitosan has been prepared by PU chain extension on a chitosan backbone through the reaction of an isocyanate-terminated PU prepolymer and the hydroxyl and amine linkages present in chitosan. The extent of solubility and the swelling characteristics of the modified chitosan decreased considerably with an increasing degree of substitution in graft copolymers as compared to pristine chitosan. Simultaneously, hydrophobic character, measured through contact angle, increased due to PU grafting. Chitosan graft copolymers are found to be bio- and haemocompatible in nature as observed through platelet aggregation, cell viability, cell adhesion and haemolysis studies. Further, graft copolymers do not supply any reactive oxygen in cell culture and the materials do not affect the biology of circulating blood cells [205].

The biocompatibility requirements for PUs as drug delivery systems are, to some extent, similar to those previously described for PU-based tissue scaffolds and are mostly related to the use of precursors which will degrade to harmless degradation products. The cytotoxicity of degradation products is estimated using different in vitro cell viability (e.g. MTT) assays. In addition, assessment of drug delivery system biocompatibility comprises evaluation of their interaction with the immune system and blood (*i.e.* blood cells, proteins and complement system) [206]. An immunocompatible drug delivery system is considered to induce minimal response from the host immune system, measured by macrophage activation, leukocyte adhesion, cytokine release [207] and T- and B-cell proliferation [208]. Interaction of drug delivery systems with blood to assess blood compatibility includes studies of haemolysis, platelet aggregation, coagulation time and complement activation [206]. A commonly accepted method for improvement of immuno- and blood compatibility is covalent binding of PEO to biomaterials including the PU surface. The presence of PEO in PU prevents protein adsorption, thus inhibiting uptake of the drug delivery system by the circulating blood cells and reducing the immunogenic response to a substance's surface [209].

5.4.4. BioPU-based nanocomposites

According to the most common definition, polymer-based nanocomposites are polymeric materials containing nanofillers, in which the polymer matrix is filled with a small amount of inorganic or organic nanoparticles. Nanocomposites are considered as materials which cover the area between inorganic glasses and organic polymers [210,211]. The two main types of filler for nanocomposite production are nanoparticles and nanoclays. In 2011 the Commission of the European Union defined nanoparticles as a natural, incidental or manufactured material containing particles, in an unbound state, as an aggregate or as an agglomerate, and where, for 50 % or more of the particles in the number size distribution, one or more external dimensions is in the size range 1-100 nm [212]. The physical and chemical properties of nanoparticles are significantly different from their bulk materials due to their high surface area-to-volume ratios, i.e. high aspect ratios [213]. Commercially available nanoparticles such as a colloid solution of nanosilica in water or organic solvent and a fumed silica, or layered alumosilicate clays (especially montmorillonite (MMT) or bentonite) are widely used in nanocomposites.

For the preparation of PU nanocomposites various methods can be used: distribution of a clay in macrodiol with a subsequent reaction with disocyanate; interaction of PU with a clay in organic solvent with a subsequent evaporation of solvent; or reaction of diisocyanate with the hydroxyalkyl groups of an organic modifier in the clay with a subsequent reaction with macrodiol [214]. The addition of a small amount of nanofiller, which is capable of interacting, at the molecular level, with the polymer matrix, has considerable influence on the macroscopic properties of a polymer [215,216]. However, aggregation of nanoparticles and formation of agglomerates often occur during the preparation of nanocomposites, mostly due to the high interfacial reactivity and high surface tension energy of nanoparticles [217]. Compatibility of nanoparticles with the polymer matrix can be improved using various techniques such as the application of ultrasonic treatment, high-energy mechanical milling, chemical surface modification of nanoparticles using adequate modifiers, treatment with surfactants and encapsulation by polymers which act as a stabilizing agent [217,218].

Various BioPUs are unsuitable for the purpose of hard-tissue regeneration due to their weak mechanical properties [219,220]. As the polymer scaffold matrix gradually degrades and the resulting space is simultaneously filled with growing tissue, the scaffold structure should provide sufficient temporary mechanical support to withstand *in vitro* and *in vivo* stresses and loading in applications such as bone regeneration [221,222]. It is well documented that the properties of porous BioPUs can be improved by introducing nanoparticles or nanoclay into the PU matrix. The addition of nanoparticles into the PU matrix can slow down a steep reduction in mechanical properties during biodegradation [223,224]. Thus, the moduli of PU nanocomposites increase

from 3 to 7 MPa (133 %) and epoxy nanocomposites from 1.1 to 2.3 GPa (109 %) by the addition of 2–8 wt. % of layered silicate nanoparticles [225,226]. It has been reported that the storage modulus of PLA/layered silicate nanocomposites is increased from 1.63 to 2.32 GPa (42 %), and the biodegradation rate of the obtained nanocomposite is significantly accelerated in comparison to pristine polymer in terms of the weight loss and molecular weight [227]. Also, incorporation of small amounts of MMT into PLLA can increase the mechanical stiffness of PLLA porous scaffolds [224]. However, the possible toxicity of nanoparticles (such as Ag and Au nanoparticles) should be mentioned [228,229]. It seems that, compared to them, metal oxide nanoparticles (silica, alumina, titanium oxide and zinc oxide) show much less toxicity [230,231].

Dias *et al.* [232] prepared porous BioPUs, based on PCL oligomers and reinforced with nanometric clay, by reacting isocyanate-endcapped PU chains with water to generate a porogenic and non-toxic CO_2 gas. The incorporation of nanoparticles allowed tailoring of the mechanical properties of the nanocomposites. SEM images showed that the porogenic procedure was able to produce materials containing large (pore sizes ranging from 184 to 327 µm) interconnected pores. *In vitro* assays performed with osteoblastic cells showed no cytotoxicity associated with the synthesized nanocomposite, while *in vivo* results after 29 days of implant showed that cells were able to penetrate through the porous structure to fully colonize the entire implant. Biocompatibility tests on the BioPU nanocomposites produced in this study revealed that this type of material can be potentially useful in engineering of many different tissues such as cartilage, bone, heart, valves, nerves, muscle, bladder and liver, among others.

BioPUs with shape-memory effects are attractive for use as minimally invasive medical devices. Wu et al. [233] prepared nanocomposites with shape-memory effects from biodegradable poly(glycerol sebacate urethane) (PGSU) and renewable cellulose nanocrystals (CNCs). Water-responsive mechanically and shape-memory performance of PGSU-CNC adaptive properties nanocomposites were observed, which are dependent on the CNC content. The PGSU-CNC nanocomposite containing 23.2 vol. % CNCs exhibited the best shape-memory effects among the nanocomposites investigated, with stable shape fixing and shape recovery ratios of 98% and 99%, respectively, attributable to the formation of a hydrophilic, yet strong, CNC network in the elastomeric matrix. The presence of CNCs improved the tensile strength of PGSU by up to 1040 % for the PGSU-CNC nanocomposite containing 18.6 vol. % CNCs, due to the strong interfacial interactions between CNCs and PGSU determined by FTIR. In vitro degradation profiles of these nanocomposites were assessed with and without the presence of an enzyme. The results showed that the PGSU6 nanocomposite (23 vol. % CNCs) experienced a weight loss of 17.5 % in 28 days in enzymatic PBS conditions. This value was lower

than that for neat PGSU, but confirms the hydrolytic degradability of the nanocomposite in the presence of an enzyme [233].

Da Silva *et al.* [234] prepared potential ocular implants to treat uveitis by incorporating dexamethasone acetate into BioPUs. PUs derived from PCL and having clay nanoparticles were obtained by producing an aqueous dispersion of the polymer. The incorporation of clay nanoparticles into the PU matrix has been demonstrated to be a useful tool to manipulate the mechanical properties in order to yield biomaterials that can display from very soft to stiff behaviour. High values of stiffness would be useful, for example, to produce ocular implants rigid enough to withstand a medical procedure that would insert the implant by forcing it to penetrate through ocular tissues without the need for a special incision. The presence of nanoparticles might be also useful to avoid an abrupt loss in stiffness during biodegradation of the implant. The incorporation of clay particles into the PU dispersion also leads to a reduction in both strain at failure and strength, an indication that the clay particles restrict the ability of the chains to flow under stress.

The introduction of reinforcing nanoparticles into a continuous polymer phase to form eco-friendly green nanocomposites has attracted a great deal of attention [235-237]. The use of chitin nanowhiskers (ChW) as a reinforcing nanofiller in the polymer matrix provides positive environmental benefits with respect to ultimate disposability and raw material use as well as strong mechanical properties. Recently, segmented biodegradable copoly(ether ester urethane)s were successfully synthesized through the chain extension of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) (PHB) as hard segments and PCL-b-PEO-b-PCL macrodiols with different PEO block lengths as soft segments, with or without ChW, using HDI as a coupling agent in a one-step solution polymerization. These copolymers seem to combine the criterion of biodegradability with improved thermal stability and a wide processability window compared with high molecular weight PHB. The obtained copolymers are semi-crystalline thermoplastics whose crystalline domains stem from PHB and PCL-b-PEO-b-PCL segments. The $T_{\rm m}$ of PHB segments in the copolymers is decreased to \sim 130 °C, about 50 °C less than that of neat PHB, thus the copolymers are considered to be more processable than neat PHB. The ChW act as a nucleating agent, enhancing the crystallization rate of PCL-b-PEO-b-PCL soft segments from the glassy state. The incorporation of low ChW content enhances the crystallization rate of the PCL-*b*-PEO-*b*-PCL component from the molten state, while copolymers containing a relatively high ChW content retard the crystallization rate. The cold and melt crystallization of PHB enhances with increasing ChW content. TG analysis showed that the thermal stability of the copolymers is slightly enhanced with high ChW content [236].

5.5. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE TRENDS

Since the 1990s BioPUs have been widely studied from different aspects, among which the development of new materials for biomedical application is probably the most attractive topic. Biomedical applications include the controlled release of drugs, fertilizers and pesticides, absorbable surgical implants, skin grafts, bone plates and even tissue engineering. BioPUs are employed in tissue engineering and controlled release drug systems because of their suitable mechanical properties, good biocompatibility and biodegradability. The biodegradation rate of PUs depends on the chemical composition, sequence length, molecular weight, hydrophilic/hydrophobic balance, degree of crystallinity, morphology and surface topography. Many research groups worldwide have sought ways to improve the properties of BioPUs depending on the specific application. These efforts have often included optimization of the experimental conditions of PU synthesis, as well as chemical modification of the structure by choosing novel starting compounds and additives which can result in a broad range of mechanical, biological and physical properties.

In the tissue engineering field, the development of new technologies and advanced techniques for the fabrication of porous scaffolds is a permanent challenge for many research groups. The need for tissue scaffolds with high elasticity and strength combined with controllable biodegradation properties will bring new strategies for the synthesis and fabrication of BioPUs, still focusing on tuning the scaffold degradability without significantly affecting its mechanical properties. However, from a biocompatibility point of view, the most important issues regarding tissue scaffolds are the cytotoxicity of the original structure and the degradation products, as well as the polymers degradation rate. Therefore, many efforts will be directed to these topics, probably in a wide, multidisciplinary approach. Besides this, there is great potential for the development of new BioPU nanocomposites, and many opportunities both in terms of using novel nanoparticles and improving fabrication techniques. All areas of BioPU development will certainly increasingly involve the use of bio-resources, as well as the use of non-toxic starting materials.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was financially supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (research project number: 172062) and by the Ministry of Science and Technology of the Republic of Srpska (research project number: 19/6-020/961-43/15).

REFERENCES

- 1. R.W. Seymour, S.L. Cooper. *Macromolecules* 6 (1973) 48–53.
- 2. Z.S. Petrovic, J. Ferguson. Prog. Polym. Sci. 16 (1991) 695-836.
- 3. P. Król, Linear Polyurethanes: Synthesis Methods, Chemical Structures, Properties and Applications, Leiden, Boston, 2008, p. 234.
- 4. C. Prisacariu, *Polyurethane Elastomers: From Morphology to Mechanical Aspects*, Springer-Verlag, Wien, 2011, p. 23.
- 5. M.J. Yang, X.Y. Den, Z. Zhang, M. Julien, F. Pelletier, D. Desaulniers, R. Cossette, F.J. Teijeira, G. Laroche, R. Guidoin. *Artif. Organs* **21** (1997) 121–130.
- 6. G. Kidane, G. Burriesci, M. Edirisinghe, H. Ghanbari, P. Bonhoeffer, A.M. Seifalian. *Acta Biomater.* **5** (2009) 2409–2417.
- 7. E.L. Lawrence, I.G. Turner. *Med. Eng. Phys.* **27** (2005) 443–453.
- 8. L. Xue, H.P. Greisler. J. Vasc. Surg. 37 (2003) 472–480.
- 9. S. Rosenheck, Z. Sharon, D. Leibowitz. Europace 2 (2000) 60–65.
- 10. J.W. Boretos, D.E. Detmer, J.H. Donachy. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **5** (1971) 373–387.
- 11. M. Bergeron, S. Lévesque, R. Guidoin, in *Biomedical Applications of Polyurethanes*, I. Vermette, H.J. Griesser, G. Laroche, R. Guidoin, Eds., Landes Bioscience, Georgetown, Texas, USA, 2001, p. 220.
- 12. N.M.K. Lamba, K.A. Woodhouse, S.L. Cooper. *Polyurethanes in Biomedical Applications,* CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1998, p. 205.
- 13. B. Amsden. Soft Matter. 3 (2007) 1335–1348.
- 14. C.J. Bettinger. *Macromol. Biosci.* **11** (2011) 467–482.
- 15. S.H. Lee. Coron. Artery Dis. 13 (2002) 237–241.
- 16. S.-W. Hwang, C.H. Lee, H. Cheng, J.-W. Jeong, S.-K. Kang, J.-H. Kim, J. Shin, J. Yang, Z. Liu, G.A. Ameer, Y. Huang, J.A. Rogers. *Nano Lett.* **15** (2015) 2801–2808.
- 17. A. Lendlein, R. Langer. *Science* **296** (2002), 1673–1676.
- 18. G.A. Skarja, K. A. Woodhouse. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 9 (1998) 271–295.
- 19. J.-Y Zhang, E.J. Beckman, J. Hu, G.-G. Yang, S. Agarwal, J.O. Hollinger. *Tissue Eng.* **8** (2002) 771–785.
- 20. P.C. Caracciolo, F. Buffa, G.A. Abraham. *J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med.* **20** (2009) 145–155.
- 21. M. Pavlova, M. Draganova. *Biomaterials* **1** (1993) 1024–1029.
- 22. M. Okada. Prog. Polym. Sci. 27 (2002) 87–133.
- 23. C.H. Zhang, X.J. Wen, N.R. Vyavahare, T. Boland. *Biomaterials* **29** (2008) 3781–3791.
- 24. G. Ruan, S.S. Feng. Biomaterials 24 (2003) 5037–5044.
- 25. J. Guan, M.S. Sacks, E.J. Beckman, W.R. Wagner. *Biomaterials* **25** (2004) 85–96.
- 26. D. Cohn, A. Hotovely-Salomon. *Polymer* **46** (2005) 2068–2075.
- 27. D.K. Dempsey, J.L. Robinson, A.V. Iyer, J.P. Parakka, R.S. Bezwada, E.M. Cosgriff-Hernandez. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. **25** (2014) 535–554.
- 28. Z.S. Petrovic, in *Handbook of Polymer Synthesis*, H.R. Kricheldorf, O. Nuyken, G. Swift, Eds., Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, USA, 2005, p. 3.
- 29. I. Yilgor, T. Eynur, E. Yilgor, G.L. Wilkes. *Polymer* **50** (2009) 4432–4437.
- 30. M. Balaban, V.V. Antic, M.V. Pergal, I. Francolini, A. Martinelli, J. Djonlagic. *J. Serb. Chem. Soc.* **77** (2012) 1457–1481.
- 31. E. Yilgor, G.E. Atilla, A. Ekin, P. Kurt, I. Yilgor. *Polymer* **44** (2003) 7787–7793.

- 32. P. R. Dvornic, R. W. Lenz, *High Temperature Siloxane Elastomers*, Hüthing & Wepf., Heidelberg and New York, 1990, p. 1.
- 33. I. Yilgör, J. McGrath. Adv. Polym. Sci. 86 (1988) 1–86.
- 34. A.G. Mikos, A.J. Thorsen, L.A. Czerwonka, Y. Bao, R. Langer, D.N. Winslow, J.P. Vacanti. *Polymer* **35** (1994) 1068–1077.
- 35. S.J. Huang in *Degradable Polymers, Principles and Applications, 2nd Edition,* G. Scott, Ed., Springer-Science+Business Media, B.V., 2002, p. 17.
- 36. M. Vert, P. Christei, F. Chabot, J. Leray in *Macromolecular Biomaterials*, G.W. Hastings, P. Ducheyne, Eds., CRC press, Boca Raton, 1984, p. 119.
- 37. P. Degee, P. Dubois, R. Jerome, S. Jacobsen, H. Fritz. *Macromol. Symp.* **144** (1999) 289–302.
- 38. S. Penczek, A. Duda, A. Kowalski, J. Libiszowski, K. Majerska, T. Biela. *Macromol. Symp.* **157** (2000) 61–70.
- 39. A. Kowalski, A. Duda, S. Penczek. *Macromolecules* **33** (2000) 7359–7370.
- 40. A. Kowalski, A. Duda, S. Penczek. *Macromolecules* **33** (2000) 689–695.
- 41. US Food and Drug Administration, Code of Federal Regulations Title 21.
- 42. A.P. Gupta, V. Kumar. *Eur. Polym. J.* **43** (2007) 4053–4082.
- 43. H.R. Kricheldorf, A. Serra, *Polym Bull* **14** (1985) 497–502.
- 44. M. Bero, P. Dobrzynski, J. Kasperczyk. *J. Polym. Sci. Part. A Polym. Chem.* **37** (1999) 4038–4042.
- 45. M. Ryner, K. Stridberg, A.C. Albertsson. *Macromolecules* **34** (2001) 3877–3881.
- 46. K. Shinno, M. Miyamoto, Y. Kimura, Y. Hirai, H. Yoshitome. *Macromolecules* **30** (1997) 6438–6444.
- 47. S. Penczek, R. Szymanski, A. Duda, J. Baran. *Macromol. Symp.* **201** (2003) 261–270.
- 48. A.J. Nijenhuis, D.W. Grijpma, A.J. Pennings. *Polym. Bull.* **26** (1991) 71–77.
- 49. B. Kalb, A.J. Pennings. *Polymer* **21** (1980) 607–612.
- 50. R. Vasanthakumari, A.J. Pennings. *Polymer* **24** (1983) 175–178.
- 51. G.L. Loomis, J.R. Murdoch, (US Patent) 4 902 515 (1990).
- 52. M. Spinu, (US Patent) 5 317 064 (1994).
- 53. Y. Ikada, K. Jamshidi, H. Tsuji, S.H. Hyon, *Macromolecules* **20** (1987) 904–906.
- 54. H. Tsuji, Y. Ikada. *Macromolecules* **26** (1993) 6918–6926.
- 55. R.E. Drumright, P.R. Gruber, D.E. Henton. Adv. Mater. 12 (2000) 1841–1846.
- 56. M. Rissanen, A. Puolakka, P. Nousiainen, M. Kellomaki, V. Ella. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **110** (2008) 2399–2404.
- 57. R.B. Trinca, M.I. Felisberti. *Eur. Polym. J.* **62** (2015) 77–86.
- 58. R.F. Storey, T.P. Hickey. *Polymer* **35** (1994) 830–838.
- 59. W. Wang, P. Ping, X. Chen, X. Jing. *Polym. Int.* **56** (2007) 840–846.
- M. Fabbri, M. Soccio, M. Costa, N. Lotti, M. Gazzano, V. Siracusa, R. Gamberini, B. Rimini, A. Munari, L. García-Fernandez, B. Velazquez-Lasa, J. San Roman. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.* 132 (2016) 169–180.
- 61. S.-H. Hsu, W.-C. Chen. *Biomaterials* **21** (2000) 359–367.
- 62. T. Maharana, B. Mohanty, Y.S. Negi. Prog. Polym. Sci. 34 (2009) 99–124.
- 63. M. Hiljanen-Vainio, P. Varpomaa, J. Seppala, P. Tormala. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.* **197** (1996) 1503–1523.
- 64. Y.-S. He, J.-B. Zeng, G.-C. Liu, Q.-T. Li, Y.-Z. Wang. *RSC Adv.* **4** (2014) 12857–12866.
- 65. K.S. Anderson, K.M. Schreck, A.M. Hillmyer. *Polym. Rev.* 48 (2008) 85–108.

- 66. Y.-Y. Shi, W.-B. Zhang, J.-H. Yang, T. Huang, N. Zhang, Y. Wang, G.-P. Yuan, C.-L. Zhang. *RSC Adv.* **3** (2013) 26271–26282.
- 67. Y.-Y. Shi, X.-C. Du, J.-H. Yang, T. Huang, N. Zhang, Y. Wang, G.-P. Yuan, C.-L. Zhang. *Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng.* **53** (2014)1344–1353.
- 68. Z. Shen, D. Lu, Q. Li, Z. Zhang, Y. Zhu. *Biomed. Res. Int.* **2015** (2015) ID: 871202, 11 pages.
- 69. J.H. Jung, M. Ree, H. Kim. *Catal. Today* **115** (2006) 283–287.
- 70. F.R. Tay, D.H. Pashley, M.C. Williams, R. Raina, R.J. Loushine, R.N. Weller, W.F. Kimbrough, N.M. King. *J. Endod.* **31** (2005) 593–598.
- 71. J.P. Santerre, K. Woodhouse, G. Laroche, R.S. Labow. *Biomaterials* **26** (2005) 7457–7470.
- 72. G.T. Howard. Int. Biodeter. Biodegr. 49 (2002) 245–252.
- 73. I. Navarro-Baena, A. Marcos-Fernandez, A. Fernandez-Torres, J.M. Kennyab, L. Peponi. *RSC Adv.* **4** (2014) 8510–8524.
- 74. J. Guan, M.S. Sacks, E.J. Beckman, W.R. Wagner. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **61** (2002) 493–503.
- 75. G.A. Skarja, K.A. Woodhouse. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 75 (2000) 1522–1534.
- 76. G.A. Skarja, K.A. Woodhouse. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 12 (2001) 851–873.
- 77. A. Kultys, M. Rogulska, H. Głuchowska. Polym. Int. 60 (2011) 652–659.
- 78. Z. Ma, Y. Hong, D.M. Nelson, J.E. Pichamuthu, C.E. Leeson, W.R. Wagner. *Biomacromolecules* **12** (2011) 3265–3274.
- 79. J. Guan, W.R. Wagner. *Biomacromolecules* **6** (2005) 2833–2842.
- 80. Y. Hong, J. Guan, K.L. Fujimoto, R. Hashizume, A.L. Pelinescu, W.R. Wagner. *Biomaterials* **31** (2010) 4249–4258.
- 81. C.-H. Tsou, H.-T. Lee, M. De Guzman, H.-A. Tsai, P.-N. Wang, H.-J. Cheng, M.-C. Suen. *Polym. Bull.* **72** (2015) 1545–1561.
- 82. J.P. Sheth, A. Aneja, G.L. Wilkes, E. Yilgor, G.E. Atilla, I. Yilgor, F.L. Beyer. *Polymer* **45** (2004) 6919–6932.
- 83. P.A. Gunatillake, G.F. Meijs, S.J. McCarthy, R. Adhikari. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **76** (2000) 2026–2040.
- 84. Y.H. Lee, E.J. Kim, H.D. Kim. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 120 (2011) 212–219.
- 85. R. Hernandez, J. Weksler, A. Padsalgikar, J. Runt. *Macromolecules* **40** (2007) 5441–5449.
- 86. P.A. Gunatillake, G.F. Meijs, S.J. McCarthy, in *Biomedical Applications of Polyurethanes*, I. Vermette, H.J. Griesser, G. Laroche, R. Guidoin, Eds., Landes Bioscience, Georgetown, Texas, USA, 2001, p. 160.
- 87. P.A. Gunatillake, G.F. Meijs, S.J. McCarthy, R. Adhikari. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **76** (2000) 2026–2040.
- 88. J.P. Sheth, E. Yilgor, B. Erenturk, H. Ozhalici, I. Yilgor, G.L. Wilkes. *Polymer* **46** (2005) 8185–8193.
- 89. E. Yilgor, E. Burgaz, E. Yurtsever, I. Yilgor. *Polymer* **41** (2000) 849–859.
- 90. M.V. Pergal, V.V. Antic, S. Ostojic, M. Marinovic-Cincovic, J. Djonlagic. *J. Serb. Chem. Soc.* **76** (2011) 1703–1723.
- 91. M.V. Pergal, J. Nestorov, G. Tovilovic, S. Ostojic, D. Godevac, D. Vasiljevic-Radovic, J. Djonlagic. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* **102** (2014) 3951–3964.
- 92. M.V. Pergal, V.V. Antic, M.N. Govedarica, D. Gođevac, S. Ostojić, J. Djonlagić. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **122** (2011) 2715–2730.
- 93. M.V. Pergal, I.S. Stefanovic, D. Gođevac, V.V. Antic, V. Milacic, S. Ostojic, J. Rogan, J. Djonlagic. *J. Serb. Chem. Soc.* **79** (2014) 843–866.

- 94. M.V. Pergal, V.V. Antic, G. Tovilovic, J. Nestorov, D. Vasiljevic-Radovic, J. Djonlagic. *J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed.* **23** (2012)1629–1657.
- 95. M.V. Pergal, J.V. Džunuzović, R. Poręba, M. Steinhart, M. M. Pergal, V.V. Vodnik, M. Špírková. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **52** (2013) 6164–6176.
- 96. M.V. Pergal, J.V. Džunuzović, R. Poręba, S. Ostojić, A. Radulović, M. Špírková. *Prog. Org. Coat.* **76** (2013) 743–756.
- 97. I.S. Stefanovic, J. Djonlagic, G. Tovilovic, J. Nestorov, V.V. Antic, S. Ostojic, M.V. Pergal. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A* **103** (2015) 1459–1475.
- 98. M.V. Pergal, J. Nestorov, G. Tovilović-Kovačević, P. Jovančić, L. Pezo, D. Vasiljević-Radović, J. Djonlagic. *Hem. Ind.* **68** (2014) 731–741.
- 99. M. Balaban, V. Antić, M. Pergal, D. Godjevac, I. Francolini, A. Martinelli, J. Rogan, J. Djonlagić. *Polym. Bull.* **70** (2013) 2493–2518.
- 100. I.S. Stefanović, M. Špírková, R. Poręba, M. Steinhart, S. Ostojić, V. Tešević, M.V. Pergal. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **55** (2016) 3960–3973.
- 101. I.S. Stefanović, D. Gođevac, M. Špírková, P. Jovančić, V. Tešević, V. Milačić, M.V. Pergal. *Hem. Ind.* **70** (2016) 725–738.
- 102. C.-H. Ho, C.-H. Wang, C.-I. Lin, Y.-D. Lee. Eur. Polym. J. 45 (2009) 2455–2466.
- 103. B. Hazer, B.M. Baysal, A.G. Koseoglu, N. Besirli, E. Taskin. *J. Polym. Environ.* **20** (2012) 477–484.
- 104. N.P. Desai, J.A. Hubbell. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 25 (1991) 829–843.
- 105. K.N. Sask, L.R. Berry, A.K.C. Chan, J.L. Brash. Langmuir 28 (2012) 2099–2106.
- 106. R.S. Waletzko, L.T. J. Korley, B.D. Pate, E.L. Thomas, P.T. Hammond. *Macromolecules* **42** (2009) 2041–2053.
- 107. J.D. Fromstein, K.A. Woodhouse. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed 13 (2002) 391–406.
- 108. J. Tuominen, J. Kylma, A. Kapanen, O. Venelampi, M. Itavaara, J. Seppala. *Biomacromolecules* **3** (2002) 445–455.
- 109. K. Gorna, S. Gogolewski. Am. Soc. Test Mater. (2000) 39–57.
- 110. P. Vermette, S. Lévesque, H.J. Griesser in *Biomedical Applications of Polyurethanes*, I. Vermette, H.J. Griesser, G. Laroche, R. Guidoin, Eds., Landes Bioscience, Georgetown, Texas, USA, 2001, p. 97.
- 111. M. Barikani, C. Hepburn. Cellular Polymers 6 (1987) 41–54.
- 112. J.P. Sheth, D.B. Klinedinst, G.L. Wilkes, I. Yilgor, E. Yilgor. *Polymer* **46** (2005) 7317–7322.
- 113. M.V. Pergal, M. Balaban, J. Nestorov, G. Tovilović-Kovačević, in *Polyurethanes: Properties, Uses and Prospects*, Nova Science Publishers, Inc., New York, 2016, p. 17.
- 114. J.O. Basse Asplund, T. Bowden, T. Mathisen, J. Hilborn. *Macromolecules* **39** (2006) 4380–4385.
- 115. T.W. Tabor, H. Tabor, Polyamines. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 53 (1984) 749–790.
- 116. J.Y. Zhang, E.J. Beckman, N.J. Piesco, S. Agarwal. *Biomaterials* **21** (2000) 1247–1258.
- 117. N. de Vera, J. Serratosa, F. Artigas, E. Martinez. *Amino Acids* **3** (1992) 261–269.
- 118. J. Blackwell, M.R. Nagarajan, T.B. Hoitink. *Polymer* **23** (1982) 950–956.
- 119. C.-S. Wang, D.J. Kenney. J. Elastomers Plast. 27 (1995) 182–199.
- 120. J.E. Baez, D. Ramírez, J.L. Valentín, Á. Marcos-Fernandez. *Macromolecules* **45** (2012) 6966–6980.
- 121. G. Lligadas, J.C. Ronda, M. Galia, V. Cadiz. *Biomacromolecules* **8** (2007) 686–692.

- 122. E. Pişkin in *Degradable Polymers, Principles and Applications, 2nd Edition,* G. Scott, Ed., *Springer-Science+Business Media, B.V.,* 2002, p. 321.
- 123. S. Guelcher, A. Srinivasan, A. Hafeman, K. Gallagher, J. Doctor, S. Khetan, S. McBride, J. Hollinger. *Tissue Eng.* **13** (2007) 2321–2333.
- 124. R.S. Labrow, D.J. Erfle, J.P. Santerre. *Biomaterials* **17** (1996) 2381–2388.
- 125. A.E. Hafeman, K.J. Zienkiewicz, A.L. Zachman, H.J. Sung, L.B. Nanney, J.M. Davidson, S.A. Guelcher. *Biomaterials* **32** (2011) 419–429.
- 126. M. Vert, D. Yoshiharu, K.-H. Hellwich, M. Hess, P. Hodge, P. Kubisa, M. Rinaudo, F. Schué. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **84** (2012) 377–410.
- 127. X. Wang, in *Advances in Biomaterials Science and Biomedical Applications*, R. Pignatello, Ed., InTech, 2013, p. 111.
- 128. S. Gogolewski, K. Gorna. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 80 (2007) 94–101.
- 129. M.W. Laschke, A. Strohe, M.D. Menger, M. Alini, D. Eglin. *Acta Biomater*. **6** (2010) 2020–2027.
- 130. J. Guan, K.L. Fujimoto, W.R. Wagner. *Pharm. Res.* **25** (2008) 2400–2412.
- 131. H. Janik, M. Marzec. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C* **48** (2015) 586–591.
- 132. P.X. Ma. Mater. Today 7 (2004) 30–40.
- 133. J.L. Burg, S. Porter, J.F. Kellam. *Biomaterials* **21** (2000) 2347–2359.
- 134. K. Gorna, J. Gogolewski. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 79 (2006) 128–138.
- 135. C.I.R. Boissard, P.-E. Bourban, A.E. Tami, M. Alini, D. Eglin. *Acta Biomater*. **5** (2009) 3316–3327.
- 136. S.K. Misra, T.I. Ansari, S.P. Valappil, D. Mohn, S.E. Philip, W.J. Stark, I. Roy, C.J. Knowles, V. Salih, A.R. Boccaccini. *Biomaterials* **31** (2010) 2806–2815.
- 137. S. Sarkar, A. Chourasia, S. Maji, S. Sadhukhan, S. Kumar, B. Adhikari. *Bull. Mater. Sci.* **29** (2006) 475–484.
- 138. H.R. Lin, C.J. Kuo, C.Y. Yang, S.Y. Shaw, Y.J. Wu. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B* 63 (2002) 271–279.
- 139. S.H. Lee, B.S. Kim, S.H. Kim, S.W. Choi, S.I. Jeong, I.K. Kwon, S.W. Kang, J. Nikolovski, D.J. Mooney, Y.K. Han, Y.H. Kim. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 66 (2003) 29–37.
- 140. N. Zhu, X. Chen. Adv. Biomater. Sci. Biomed. Appl. 12 (2013) 315–328.
- 141. C. Sin, X. Miao, G. Liu, F. Wei, G. Chadwick, C. Yan, T. Friis. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl.* **30** (2010) 78–85.
- 142. X. He, Y. Xu, Y. Wang, G. Wu, B. Yuan. *Appl. Mech. Mater.* **513-517** (2014) 95–99.
- 143. K. Ashida, *Polyurethane and related foams: chemistry and technology*, CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, London, New York, 2007, p. 24.
- 144. H.J. Kim, I.K. Park, J.H. Kim, C.S. Cho, M.S. Kim. *Tissue Eng. Regen. Med.* **9** (2012) 63–68.
- 145. C.D. Ji, N. Annabi, M. Hosseinkhani, S. Sivaloganathan, F. Dehghani. *Acta Biomater.* **8** (2012) 570–578.
- 146. C.J. Spaans, V.W. Belgraver, O. Rienstra, J.H. Groot, R.P.H. Veth, A.J. Pennings. *Biomaterials* **21** (2000) 2453–2460.
- 147. A. Zellander, R. Gemeinhart, A. Djalilian, M. Makhsous, S. Sun, M. Cho. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl.* **33** (2013) 3396–3403.
- 148. K. Gorna, S. Gogolewski. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 67 (2003) 813–827.
- 149. A.S. Rowlands, S.A. Lim, D. Martin, J.J. Cooper-White. *Biomaterials* **28** (2007) 2109–2121.

- 150. V. Maquet, A.R. Boccaccini, L. Pravata, I. Notingher, R. Jerome. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* **66** (2003) 335–346.
- 151. J. Guan, K.L. Fujimoto, M.S. Sacks, W.R. Wagner. *Biomaterials* **26** (2005) 3961–3971.
- 152. R.G.J.C. Heijkants, R.V. van Calck, T.G. van Tienen, J.H. de Groot, A.J. Pennings, P. Buma, R.P.H. Veth, A.J. Schouten, *J Biomed Mater Res A* **87** (2008) 921–932.
- 153. F. Shokrolahi, H. Mirzadeh, H. Yeganeh, M. Daliri. *Iran Polym. J.* **20** (2011) 645–658.
- 154. M.M. Demir, I. Yilgor, E. Yilgor, B. Erman. *Polymer* **43** (2002) 3303–3309.
- 155. A. Pedicini, R.J. Farris. *Polymer* **44** (2003) 6857–6862.
- 156. R. Fradique, T.R. Correia, S.P. Miguel, K.D. de Sa, D.R. Figuera, A.G. Mendonca, I.R. Correlia. *J Mater Sci. Mater. Med.* **27** (2016) 69.
- 157. Y.W. Huang, K. He, X.H. Wang. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl.* **33** (2013) 3220–3229.
- 158. K.C. Hung, C.S. Tseng, S.H. Hsu. Adv. Healthc. Mater. 3 (2014) 1578–1587.
- 159. K.C. Hung, C.S. Tseng, L.G. Dai, S.H. Hsu. *Biomaterials* 83 (2016) 156–168.
- 160. K.C. Hung, C.S. Tseng, S.H. Hsu. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **3** (2014)1578–1587.
- 161. G.-H. Wu, S.-H. Hsu. J. Med. Bio. Eng. 35 (2015) 285–292.
- 162. R.R. Jose, M.J. Rodriguez, T.A. Dixon, F. Omenetto, D.L. Kaplan. *ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng.* **2** (2016) 1662–1678.
- 163. M.M. Demir, I. Yilgor, E. Yilgor, B. Erman. *Polymer* **43** (2002) 3303–3309.
- 164. J. Lannutti, D. Reneker, T. Ma, D. Tomasko, D. Farson. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C* **27** (2007) 504–509.
- 165. D.S. Puperi, A. Kishan, Z.E. Punske, Y. Wu, E. Cosgriff-Hernandez, J.L. West, K.J. Grande-Allen. *ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng.* **2** (2016) 1546–1558.
- 166. M. Guvendiren, J. Molde, R.M.D. Soares, J. Kohn. *ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng.* **2** (2016) 1679–1693.
- 167. F.-Y. Hsieh, H.-H. Lin, S.-H. Hsu. *Biomaterials* **71** (2015) 48–57.
- 168. A. Pfister, R. Landers, A. Laib, U. Hübner, R. Schmelzeisen, R. Mülhaupt. J. Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem. 42 (2004) 624–638.
- 169. D. Eglin, S. Grad, S. Gogolewski, M. Alini. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* **92** (2010) 393–408.
- 170. P. Wozniak, M. Bil, J. Ryszkowska, P. Wychowanski, E. Wrobel, A. Ratajska, G. Hoser, J. Przybylski, K.J. Kurzydlowski, M. Lewandowska-Szumiel. *Acta Biomater.* 6 (2010) 2484–2493.
- 171. G.R. da Silva, S. Junior Ada, J.B. Saliba, M. Berdugo, B.T. Goldenberg, M.C. Naud, E. Ayres, R.L. Orefice, F.B. Cohen. *Int. J. Artif. Organs* **34** (2011) 198–209.
- 172. Y. Hong, K. Takanari, N.J. Amoroso, R. Hashizume, E.P. Brennan-Pierce, J.M. Freund, S.F. Badylak, W.R. Wagner. *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods* **18** (2012) 122–132.
- 173. A.P. Reyes, A.M. Torres, Ma. del P.C. Castro, J.R.R. Talavera, S.V. Muñoz, V.M.V. Aguilar, M.G. Torres. *Sci. Rep.* **6** (2016) 31140.
- 174. C. Xu, Y. Huang, J. Wu, L. Tang, Y. Hong. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **7** (2015) 20377–20388.
- 175. M. Spagnuolo, L. Liu. *ISRN Nanotechnology* **2012** (2012) 11 pages.
- 176. Y. Zhang, H.F. Chan, K.W. Leong. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **65** (2013) 104–120.
- 177. J.Y. Cherng, T.Y. Hou, M.F. Shih, H. Talsma, W.E. Hennink. *Int. J. Pharm.* **450** (2013) 145–162.

- 178. T. Thomson, *Polyurethanes as specialty chemicals: principles and applications,* CRC Press, Boca Raton, London, New York, Washington, D.C., 2005, p. 127.
- 179. L. Yu, L. Zhou, M. Ding , J. Li , H. Tan, Q. Fu, X. He. *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.* **358** (2011) 376–383.
- 180. Y. Yao, H. Xu, C. Liu, Y. Guan, D. Xu, J. Zhang, Y. Su, L. Zhao, B.J. Luo. *RSC Adv.* **6** (2016) 9082–9089.
- 181. J. Zhang, M. Wu, J. Yang, Q. Wu, Z. Jin. *Colloids Surf. A* **337** (2009) 200–204.
- 182. L. Zhou, L. Yu, M. Ding, J. Li, H. Tan, Z. Wang, Q. Fu. *Macromolecules* **44** (2011) 857–864.
- 183. A. Wang, H. Gao, Y. Sun, Y.L. Sun, Y.W. Yang, G. Wu, Y. Wang, Y. Fan, J. Ma. *Int. J. Pharm.* **441**(2013) 30–39.
- 184. G. Morral-Ruíz, P. Melgar-Lesmes, M.L. García, C. Solans, M.J. García-Celma. *Polymer* **53** (2012) 6072–6080.
- 185. K. Landfester, V. Mailänder. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* **10** (2013) 593–609.
- E.-M. Rosenbauer, M. Wagner, A. Musyanovych, K. Landfester. *Macromolecules* 43 (2010) 5083–5093.
- 187. K. Bouchemal, S. Briançon, E. Perrier, H. Fessi, I. Bonnet, N. Zydowicz. *Int. J. Pharm.* **269** (2004) 89–100.
- 188. H. Liu,L. Zhang, P. Shi, Q. Zou, Y. Zuo, Y. Li. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater.* **95** (2010) 36–46.
- 189. C.S. Subhaga,K.G. Ravi, M.C. Sunny, A. Jayakrishnan. *J. Microencapsulation* **12** (1995) 617–625.
- 190. T. Yamaoka, Y. Makita, H. Sasatani, S.I. Kim, Y. Kimura. *J. Control Release* **66** (2000) 187–197.
- 191. E.H. Seo, K. Na. *Biomater. Res.* **2014** 18:15.
- 192. Y. Chen, R. Wang, J. Zhou, H. Fan, B. Shi. *React. Funct. Polym.* **71** (2011) 525–535.
- 193. M. Mândru, C. Ciobanu, S. Vlad, M. Butnaru, L. Lebrun, M. Popa. *Central Eur. J. Chem.* **11** (2013) 542–553.
- 194. W.N. Sivak, J. Zhang, S. Petoud, E.J. Beckman. *Acta Biomater.* **6** (2010) 144–153.
- 195. M. Mandru C. Ciobanu, L. Lebrun, A. Nistor, L.M. Gradinaru, M. Popa, S. Vlad. *J. Compos. Biodegradable Polym.* **1** (2013) 34–46.
- 196. W.N. Sivak, J. Zhang, S. Petoud, E.J. Beckman. *Acta Biomater.* **5** (2009) 2398–2408.
- 197. T.J. Johnson, K.M. Gupta, J. Fabian, T.H. Albright, P.F. Kiser. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* **39** (2010) 203–212.
- 198. A.E. Hafeman, K.J. Zienkiewicz, E. Carney, B. Litzner, C. Stratton, J.C. Wenke, S.A. Guelcher. *J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed.* **21** (2010) 95–112.
- 199. E.R. Kenawy, F.I. Abdel-Hay, M.H. El-Newehy, G.E. Wnek. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* **113** (2009) 296–302.
- 200. S. Sartori, A. Caporale, A. Rechichi, D. Cufari, C. Cristallini, N. Barbani, P. Giusti, G. Ciardelli. *J. Pept. Sci.* **19** (2013) 205–213.
- 201. B. Wesslen, M. Kober, C. Freij-Larsson, A. Ljungh, M. Paulsson. *Biomaterials* **15** (1994) 278–284.
- 202. X. He, M. Ding, J. Li, H. Tan, Q. Fu, L. Li. RSC Adv. 4 (2014) 24736–24746.
- 203. D. Xu, Z. Meng, M. Han, K. Xi, X. Jia, X. Yu, Q. Chen. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **109** (2008) 240–246.
- 204. W.C. Lin, C.H. Tseng, M.C. Yang. *Macromol. Biosci.* **5** (2005) 1013–1021.

- 205. A.K. Mahanta, V. Mittal, N. Singh, D. Dash, S. Malik, M. Kumar, P. Maiti. *Macromolecules* **48** (2015) 2654–2666.
- 206. S. Naahidi, M. Jafari, F. Edalat, K. Raymond, A.S. Khademhosseini, P. Chen. *J. Control. Release* **166** (2013) 182–194.
- 207. D. Spiller, C. Mirtelli, P. Losi, E. Briganti, S. Sbrana, S. Counoupas, S. Kull, S. Tonlorenzi, G. Soldani. *J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med.* **20** (2009) 2511–2520.
- 208. M.J. Smith, K.L. White Jr, D.C. Smith, G.L. Bowlin. *Biomaterials* **30** (2009) 149–159.
- 209. J.J.F. Verhoef, T.J. Anchordoquy. Drug Deliv. Transl. Res. 3 (2013) 499–503.
- 210. D.R. Paul, L.M. Robeson. *Polymer* **49** (2008) 3187–3204.
- 211. B.M. Novak. *Adv. Mater.* **5** (1993) 422–433.
- 212. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/chemicals/nanotech/faq/definition_en.htm (01.10.2016).
- 213. P.V. Kamat. J. Phys. Chem. B 106 (2002) 7729–7744.
- 214. I.V. Khudyakov, R.D. Zopf, N.J. Turro. *Des Monomers Polym.* **12** (2009) 279–290.
- 215. K. Jilie, J. Guiying, in *Nanocomposites: Preparation, Properties and Performance,* L.H. Mancini, C.L. Esposito, Eds., Nova Science Publishers, Inc., New York, U. S., 2008, p. 105.
- 216. F. Hussain, M. Hojjati, M. Okamoto, R.E. Gorga. *J. Compos. Mater.* **40** (2006) 1511–1575.
- 217. I.A. Novakov, N.K. Dang, M.A. Vaniev, N.V. Sidorenko. *Russ. Chem. Bull.* **62** (2013) 276–284.
- 218. P.-C. Ma, N.A. Siddiqui, G. Marom, J.-K. Kim. *Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf.* **41** (2010) 1345–1367.
- 219. A.G. Mikos, Y. Bao, L.G. Cima, D.E. Ingber, J.P. Vacanti, R. Langer. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **27** (1993) 183–189.
- 220. Y.S. Nam, T.G. Park. *Biomaterials* **20** (1999) 1783–1790.
- 221. F.J. Hua, J.D. Nam, D.S. Lee. *Macromol. Rapid. Commun.* **22** (2001) 1053–1057.
- 222. M. Kikuchi, S. Itoh, S. Ichinose, K. Shinomiya, J. Tanaka. *Biomaterials* **22** (2001) 1705–1711.
- 223. A. Pattanayak, S.C. Jana. *Polymer* **46** (2005) 5183–5193.
- 224. J.H. Lee, T.G. Park, H.S. Park, D.S. Lee, Y.K. Lee, S.C. Yoon, J.-D. Nam. *Biomaterials* 24 (2003) 2773–2778.
- 225. X. Wang, T.J. Pinnavaia. Chem. Mater. 10 (1998) 1820–1826.
- 226. T. Lan, P.D. Kaviratna, T.J. Pinnavaia. *Chem. Mater.* **7** (1995) 2144–2150.
- 227. S.H. Ray, K. Yamada, M. Okamoto, K. Ueda. Nano Lett. 2 (2002) 1093–1096.
- 228. K. Savolainen, H. Alenius, H. Norppa, L. Pylkkanen, T. Tuomi, G. Kasper. *Toxicology* **269** (2010) 92–104.
- 229. F. Martinez-Gutierrez, P.L. Olive, A. Banuelos, E. Orrantia, N. Nino, E.M. Sanchez, F. Ruiz, H. Bach, Y. Av-Gay. *Nanomed. Nanotech. Biol. Med.* **6** (2010) 681–688.
- 230. S.M. Hussain, K.L. Hess, J.M. Gearhart, K.T. Geiss, J.J. Schlager. *Toxicol. In Vitro* **19** (2005) 975–983.
- 231. W. Lin, Y. Huang, X.D. Zhou, Y. Ma. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharm.* **217** (2006) 252–259.
- 232. R.C.M. Dias, A.M. Góes, R. Serakides, E. Ayres, R.L. Oréfice. *Mater Res.* **13** (2010) 211–218.
- 233. T. Wu, M. Frydrych, K. O'Kelly, B. Chen. *Biomacromolecules* **15** (2014) 2663–2671.

- 234. G.R. da Silva, A. da Silva-Cunha Jr., F. Behar-Cohen, E. Ayres, R.L. Oréfice. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C* **31** (2011) 414–422.
- 235. L.N. Carli, T.S. Daitx, R. Guegan, M. Giovanela, J.S. Crespo, R.S. Mauler. *Polym. Int.* **64** (2015) 235–241.
- 236. N.A. Mohamed, H.E. Salama, M.W. Sabaa, G.R. Saad. *J. Therm. Anal. Calorim.* **125** (2016) 163–173.
- 237. M. Larsson, A. Bergstrand, L. Mesiah, C. Van Vooren, A. Larsson. *J. Nanomater*. **2014** (2014) 1–9.